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Zurich insurance Group Financial Review

Zurich Insurance Group Financial Review

Overview Zurich Insurance Group

The Zurich Insurance Group recorded net income of USD 1,321 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, an
increase of 34% compared with USD 983 miilion in the same period of 2003. This resuft was built on the strong
underlying performance of our core businesses and the stabilized development of our Other Businesses.

General Insurance showed significant improvements in all key regions except for North America Corporate, which
strengthened loss reserves for development in business written during the soft market years of 1997 through
2001 In addition, Gereral Insurance, which had enjoyed a two year period of benign catastrophe experience,
was impacted by the four hurricanes in the US and the Caribbean and the tragic tsunami in Asia. Life Insurance
continued its turnaround with an improved underlying performance, primarily in Europe, after consideration

of divested businesses. Other Businesses also confributed strong results based on the management actions taken
in 2003, The results across all segments were supported by the improved investment return and lower effective

tax rate,

Performance Performance highliaghts

highlights in USD millions, for the years ended Dacember 31 2004 2003 Change
Gross written premiums and policy fees 45499 45,670 0%
Net investment income 5,844 5,793 1%
Net capital gains on investments and impairments 613 496 24%
Net income 1,321 923 34%

Results for 2003 in this Zurich Insurance Group Financial Review are restated for the implementation of a new
accounting standard and the acquisition of Eagle Star Insurance Company Limited, details of which are set

out in note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements and in the Investment Performance section of this report.
Other tables have been restated as necessary. )

Gross written premiums of USD 45.5 billion in 2004 remained level after adjusting for the effects of exchange
rate movements and the effects of the sale of certain general insurance businesses.

Net income impraved by USD 338 million, or 34%, to USD 1,321 million in 2004 compared to net income of

USD 983 million in 2003. Net income was affected by the following:

* General insurance net income decreased by USD 465 million to USD 1.2 billion, as a result of the
USD 2.2 billion net strengthening of reserves related to prior accident years. In addition, General Insurance
incurred losses of USD 680 million related to the hurricanes and USD 82 million related to the December
tsunami. These factors have been partiaily compensated by improved undenwriting results in the current year.

« Life nsurance net income decreasad by USD 340 million to USD 384 million in 2004. The focus on mere
profitable businesses resulted in a decline of valume because of divestments of businesses which were ng
longer part of our business strategy.

+ Other Businesses recorded net income of USD 49 miflion, an improvement of USD 1 billion from the net loss
in 2003. Centre significantly improved its results following the restructuring actions taken in the prior year
and the successful commutations in the current year. The wind-down of Zurich Capital Markets continued in
2004 and also contributed ta the improved result in this segment.

» Corporate Center, which supports the Zurich Insurance Group through funding and gavernance oversight,
reduced its net costs irmpacting net loss by USD 27 millicn to USD 354 million loss, based on stable
gross headquarter expenses, as well as an improved recovery for services rendered ¢ other segments.

* Net capital gains on investments and impairments have increased by USD 117 million to USD 613 million. This
movement was primarily due to lower impairments as compared with the prior year,

investment Total investments as shown in the Consolidated Balance Sheet include Zurich Insurance Group investments,

performance where the Zurich insurance Group bears aif or part of the investment risk, and investments for unit-finked
products, where policyholders bear the entire investment risk. The investments for unit-linked products and the
related investment result have been reclassified follawing the implementation of SOP03-01.

We manage our diversified Zurich Insurance Group investmenit portfolic ta optimize benefits for both shareholders
and policyholders while ensuring compliance with local regulatory and business reguirements under the
guidance of cur Asset/Liability Management and Investment Committee. investrnents for unit-linked preducts
are managed in accordance with the investment objectives of each unit-linked fund.
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Investment performance of Zurich Insurance Group investments

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change
Net investment income 6,037 6,016 0%
Net capital gains on investments and impairments 572 441 30%
Net investment result 6,609 6,457 2%
Maovements in unrealized gains on investments included in shareholders’ equity 1,680 415 305%
Average investments : 149,831 139,353 8%
Total return? 55% 4.9% 0.6 pts

Before investment expenses.

Net investment income for Zurich Insurance Group investments remained at USD 6.0 billion. The lengthening
of bond portfolio durations was partially offset by lower income due to the reduction in the asset base caused by
the redasign of the Zurich Insurance Group’s pension business model in Switzerland.

Net capital gains on investments and impairments for Zurich Insurance Group investments increased from
USD 441 million in 2003 to USD 572 million in 2004 mainly because of lower impairments and higher short term
interest rates in the US as compared to the prior year.

The total investment return for Zurich Insurance Group investrnents was 5.5% compared with 4.9% in 2003,
This return includes investment income, net capitat gains on investments in the consolidated operating staterment
and movements in unrealized gains recorded in shareholders’ equity. The total investment result was USD 5.8 billion,
after investment expenses of USD 244 million.

Equity securities include common stock and equity unit trusts in which the Zurich insurance Group bears the
investment risk. At year end 2004, we had reduced our holding in this category of equity securities to 5.5% of
our investment portfolio, down from 7.0% as of December 31, 2003.

Balance sheet Balance sheet highlights

highlights in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 Change
Zurich Insurance Group investments © 154,259 145,403 6%
Investments for unit-linked products 2,058 1,586 30%
Total investments 156,317 146,989 6%
Gross insurance reserves 159,369 148,950 7%
Gross reserves for unit-linked products 2,071 1,583 31%
Total gross insurance reserves 161,440 150,533 7%
Total shareholders’ equity 8,917 7.418 20%

* Zurich Insurance Group investments increased by USD 8.9 billion due to positive operating cash flow,
higher market valuations and the effects of foreign currency translation, partially offset by the divestment of
certain operations in 2004, the redesign of the group pension business model in Switzerland and the
restructuring of Zurich Capitai Markets.

* Gross insurance reserves increased by USD 10.4 billion, or 7%, in 2004. General Insurance reserves, including

gross reserves for unit linked products, increased by USD 9.2 billion to USD 68 billion following growth in

gross written premiums, net reserve strengthening and exchange rate movements partially offset by the sale of

general insurance businesses during 2004. Gross Life Insurance reserves, including reserves for unit-linked

products, increased by USD 3.9 billion to USD 79.7 billion after the effects of the redesign of the Zurich Insurance

Group's pension business model in Switzerland as well as divestments of life businesses during 2004. Other

Businesses reserves were reduced by USD 3.6 billion.

Shareholders’ equity increased by USD 1.5 bitlion to USD 8.9 billion mainly as a result of our profit in the

year and favorable currency translation effects.

The increase in both investments and reserves for unit-linked products reflects exchange rate and markets

rnovements and continued sales of these products.
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Zurich Insurance Group Financial Review

Segmental financial analysis

Met income Net income /{loss) by segment
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change
General Insurance . 1,242 1,707 {27%)
Life Insurance 384 724 (47%)
Other Businesses 49 (1,067) am
Corporate Center (354) (381) 7%
Total 1,321 983 34%

General Insurance Net income decreased by USD 465 million, or 27%, from USD 1.7 billion for 2003 to USD 1.2 billion for 2004.

Our strong underwriting performance in the North America Consumer, Continental Europe and the Rest of the
World as well as higher investment income were more than offset by losses due to the hurricanes that struck
the US and the Caribbean in August and September, the Decernber tsunami and further reserve strengthening
in North America Corporate relating to prior years. Net income benefited from lower tax expenses and lower
losses on divestments, partially offset by lower capital gains on investments.

Gross written premiums and policy fees increased by USD 1.4 billion, or 4%, from USD 35.2 billion in
2003 to USD 36.6 billion for 2004. Taking inte account the effects of divestments ang exchange rate
movements, premiums remained level in 2004. Despite the slowing down of rate increases in certain markets,
we stili experienced higher average rates overall in 2004 comgpared to the prior year. Volumes have decreased
in certain competitive lines of business, as we have chosen not to write business that does not meet our
technical price targets. '

Net earned premiums and policy fees increased by USD 2.2 billion, or 1%, from USD 26.1 billion in 2003

to USD 29.0 billion in 2004. This increase is the consequence of strong pricing in pricr periods now flowing

into earnings and higher premium retentions reflecting the reduction in our reinsurance program as our balance
sheet has strengthened.

Life Insurance Net income decreased by USD 340 million, or by 47 %, from USD 724 million in 2003 to USD 384 million in
2004 mainly due to the higher net gains on divestments of businesses in 2003.

Gross written premiums and policy fees decreased by USD 1.3 billion, or (14%), from USD 9.5 bitlion for
2003 to USD 8.2 billion in 2004. This decrease was due to the sale of certain life operations in the second half
of 2003, particularly Zurich Life US and Zurich Life UK, as well as the redesign of Switzerland's group pension
business model which has been partially transferred to an external foundation.

Other Businesses Our Other Businesses segment includes capital markets and banking activities and our Centre operations.
This segment also includes centrally managed general and life insurance operations. Certain of the business
operations in this segment were discontinued, divested or put into run-off in 2004 and 2003.

Net income improved substantially by USD 1.1 billion million, from a net loss of USD 1.1 billion in 2003 to a
net income of USD 49 million in 2004. The 2003 result was impacted by provisions for reserva strengthening,
write-down of certain assets and other provisions totaling USD 1.1 billion.

Corporate Center The Corporate Center segment includes Group holding and financing companies, Corporate Center operations
and alternative investments. This segment also includes some Group internal reinsurance cperations that are
not attributable to a specific segment but are managed on a global basis.

Net loss has improved, decreasing by USD 27 million 1o a net toss of USD 354 million for 2004 as a resuit of
contralling costs, combined with the favarable effect of fareign exchange gains.
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Consclidated Financigl Statements

Consolidated operating statements
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31

Notes 2004 2003
Revenues
Gross written prerniurmns and policy fees 45,499 45670
Less premiums ceded to reinsurers (7.215)  (8,381)
Net written premiums and policy fees 38,284 37,289
Net change in reserves for unearned premiums 60 (558)
Net earned premiums and policy fees 38,344 36,73
Management fees 24 224
Net investrnent income 5 5,844 5,793
Net capital gains on investments and impairments 5 613 496
Net gain on divestments of businesses 4 83 238
Other income 1,468 1,405
Total revenues 46,376 44,887
Benefits, losses and expenses
Insurance benefits and losses, net of reinsurance 9 32,243 30928
Policyholder dividends and particigation in profits, net of reinsurance 9 1,060 372
Underwriting and policy acquisition costs, net of reinsurance 9 6,182 5,593
Administrative expense 2,542 2,872
Other operating expense 1,210 1,455
Amortization of intangible assets 16 249 305
Interest expense on debt 17 561 523
Interest credited to policyholders and other interest 666 931
Total benefits, losses and expenses 44,713 42,979
Net income before income taxes and minority interests 1,663 1,908
Income tax expense 11 {253) {838}
Net income applicable 1o minority interests (89) (87)
Net income 1,321 983

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated balance sheets

in USD millions, as of December 31

Assets Notes 2004 2003
Investments

Debt securities 96,401 89,465
Equity securities 11,879 13,175
Trading equity porticlios in capital markets and banking activities ' 2,773 4,303
Holdings in related comapnies 941 941
I_n_vggtments in associates 645 991
Other investments 32,972 26,979
Cash and cash equivalents 10,706 11,135
Total investrnenis 5 156,317 146,989
investments held on account and at risk of life insurance poiicyholders § 23902 21,786
Accrued investment income 2,085 1,972
Receivables 12 11,566 11,011
Reinsurance assets 13 22,048 22,071
Deposits made under assumed reinstirance contracts 3,282 3,586
Deferred policy acquisition costs 14 5,748 4,996
Fixed assets 15 1,832 1,943
Goodwill 16 591 621
Other intangible assets 16 740 811
Deferred tax assets 114 3,385 2,886
Derivative trading assets and other assets 2,948 4,497
Mortgage loans given as coliateral 4,135 4701
Total assets 238,579 227,870

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Liabilities, minority interests and shareholders’ equity Notes 2004 2003
Liabilities

INSUrance reserves, gross ’ 10 161,440 150,533
Reserve for premium refunds 847 943
55urance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders ) 23,974 21,871
Deposits received under ceded reinsurance ¢ontracts 4,314 4,835
Obligation to repurchase securities 1,792 1,520
Deferred tax liabilities 11 3,196 2,895
Accrued liabilities 23,396 2,834
Deferred front-end fees 379 201
Debt related to capital markets and banking activities 17 3,861 5,825
Senior and subordinated debt 17 10,337 9,476
Other liabilities 18 11,438 14,107
Collateralized loans 4,135 4,701
Total liabilities 229,109 219,741
Minority interesis 19 553 71
Shareholders’ equity 20

Common stock 660 660
Additional paid-in capital 4,547 4,547
Net unrealized gains on investments 5 819 724
Cumuiative translation adjustment {2,374) (2,457)
Retained earnings 5,265 3,944
Total shareholders’ equity 8,917 7.418
Total liabilities, minority interests and shareholders’ eguity 238,579 227,870

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statements of cash flows
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31

2004 2003
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income 1321 983
Adjustments for;
Net capital (gains) on investments and impairments {613) (496)
Net {(gain) on divestments of businesses {83} (238
Equity in income of investments in associates (86) {90}
Depreciation and amortization 18 572
QOther non-cash items - 655
Ehanges in operational assets and liabilities:
Deferred palicy acquisition costs (461) (123)
Reinsurance assets, net (400) 1,302
Deposits made under assumed reinsurance contracts 315 (936)
Receivables and payables (215) (1,404)
Insurance reserves, Gross 5,396 7,608
Deferred income tax, net {349) 523
Net changes in other operational assets and liabilities 1,120 348
Net cash provided by operating activities 6,363 8,704
Cash flows from investing activities
Sales and maturities:
Debt securities 47375 66,214
Equity securities 15,432 27,596
Other (primarily other investments and fixed assets) 8,738 7,749
Purchases:
Debt securities (54,718) (76,468)
Equity securities (11,325) (20,084)
Cther {primarily other investments and fixed assets) {12,378) (10,592)
Investments in associates, net 106 50
Cash settiement for acquisition of companies {1.424) (452)
Divestments of companies, net of cash balances 2,049 2,186
Dividends from associates 19 12
Net cash used in investing activities {6,126) (3.789)

The notes to the consalidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2004 2003
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from sale and repurchase agreements 161 161
Redemption of preferred stock by subsidiaries (12) (655)
Issuance of debt 2,860 4,763
Paymenits on debt outstanding (3,963) (5,480)
Net cash used in financing activities (e54) {1,211}
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 288 278
Change in ¢ash and cash equivalents (429) 3,982
Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1 (opening balance) 11,135 7,153
Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 10,706 11,135
Other supplementary cash flow information
in USD millions 2004 2003
Interest income received 5,132 4,988
Dividend income received 394 469
Interest expense paid {1,191} (1,145)
Income tax paid (322) (303)

As of Decernber 31, 2004 and 2003, cash and cash equivalents restricted as to use were USD 447 million and USD 639 million, respectively.
Cash and cash equivalents held for the benefit of policyholders in connection with unit-linked products amounted to USD 7 million and

UsD 3 million, respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

in USD millions 2004 2003
Cash at bank and in hand 7,557 6,492
Cash equivalents 3,149 4,636
Balance as of December 31 10,706 11,135

The notes 1o the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity

in USD millions, except number of shares, for the years ended December 31

Number of
common Caommon
shares issued stock
Balance as of December 31, 2002, as previousiy reported 82,500,000 660
Implementation of a new accounting standard and pooling of interest Eagle Star’ - -
Balance as of December 31, 2002, restated 82,500,000 660
Change in net unrealized gains/(losses) on investments {excluding translation adjustments) - -
Translation adjustments - -
Change in net unrealized gains/{losses) on investments not recognized in the operating statement - -
Net income - -
Balance as of December 31, 2003 82,500,060 660
Balance as of December 31, 2003, as previously reported 82,500,000 660
Impiementation of a new accounting standard and pooling of interest Eagle Star? - -
Balance as of December 31, 2003, restated 82,500,000 660
Change in net unrealized gains/{losses) on investments (excluding translation adjustments) - -
Transfer arising from initial application of “legal quote” legislation in Switzerland? - -
Translation adjustments - -
Change in net unrealized gains/{!osses) on investments not recognized in the operating statement - -
Net income - -

Balance as of December 31, 2604 82,500,000

! As discussed in note 3.

660

2 Transfer of net unreatized gains on investments to insurance reserves as " policyholders' contract deposits and other funds” in connection with the initial application as of fune 30, 2004

of the new “legal quote” legislation in Switzerland as described in note 10.

The notes to the consclidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Additional Net unrealized Cumulative Total

paid-in gains/ (losses) translation Retained shareholdars’
capital on investments adjustment earnings equity
4,547 861 (2,465) 2,724 6,327
] - (9) 43 237 271
4,547 852 (2,422) 2,961 6,598
- (200) - - (200}
- 72 {35) - 37
- (128) (35) - (163)
- - - 983 983
4,547 724 (2,457} 3,944 7,418
4,547 . 71 (2,548) 3,803 7173
- 13 a1 141 245
4,547 724 (2,457) 3,944 7418
- 273 - - 273
- {226) ~ - (226)
- 48 83 - [y
- 95 83 - 178
- - - 1,321 1.321
4,547 819 (2,379) 5,265 8,917
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Consolidated Financial Staterments

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

The Board of Directors of Zurich Insurance Company has autharized these consolidated financial statements for issue on April 18, 2005. These
Financial Statements will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on April 18, 2005 for approval irnmediately after
authorization by the Board.

1. Basis of presentation

Zurich Insurance Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Zurich Insurance Group”) are an insurance-based financial servicas provider
with an international network that focuses on chosen markets. Key markets are the United States, the United Kingdom and Continental
Europe comprising primarily Germany, Switzerland, ftaly and Spain. Core businesses are General and Life Insurance. The Zurich Insurance
Group also distributes nen-insurance products, such as mutual funds, mortgages and other financial services products, from selected third-
party providers.

The Zurich Insurance Group is controlled by Zurich Group Holding which in turn is controiled by Zurich Financial Services, the ultimate
parent holding cormpany of the Zurich tnsurance Group, all of which are incorporated in Switzerland,

The helding company, Zurich Insurance Company, is incorporated in Zurich, Switzerland. The Zurich Insurance Group operates through
subsidiaries and branch offices. The consolidated financial staternents of the Zurich Insurance Group have been prepared in accordance
with international Financial Reporting Standards (FRS) and comply with Swiss law. IFRS does not contain guidelines governing the
accounting treatment of certain transactions including those that are specific to insurance products. When a specific tapic is not addressed
by the standards, the IFRS Framework permits reference to ancther comprehensive body of accounting principles. In these cases,

the Zurich insurance Group typically refers to accounting principtes generally accepted in the United States (US GAAP} for guidance.

Certain amounts recorded in the consolidated financial statements reflect estimates and assumptions made by management about insurance
liability reserves, investment valuations, interest rates and other factors. Significant estimates are discussed in the notes. Actual results may
differ from the estimates made.

A new accounting standard and ancther change, discussed in note 3, resulted in restatement of 2003 consclidated financial stataments. In
addition, certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts and segment disclosures to conform to the current year presentation.
These reclassifications have no effect on the previously reported net income.

Segment information

The Zurich Insurance Group is managed on a matrix basis, reflecting both line of business and geography. Accordingly, segment information:
fs presented in two formats. The primary format is based on the operating businesses of the Zurich Insurance Group and how they are
strategically managed to offer different products and services to specific customer groups. The Zurich Insurance Group's primary segments are
defined as follows:

General Insurance: General Insurance operations write substantially all lines of property and casualty business.
Life Insurance: Life insurance operations offer a broad line of life insurance, annuity and investment-type pelicies to individuals and groups.

Other Businesses: Other Businesses is the combination of the activities described below. In general, such activities are not considered 1o be
core businasses, and certain of these business operations were discontinued, divested or put in run-off in 2004 and 2003.

Capital markets and banking activities consist primarily of Zurich Capital Markets which has a portfoiio of hedge-fund-based investment
vehicles, asset-based financing and credit structures, instruments t¢ manage investment risk, customized strategies to structure or manage
financial assets, and administrative services for hedge funds and hedge fund investors.

Centre operations: Centre’s portfolio of business consists of property and casualty reinsurance, credit enhangement and life & health
business.

Centrally managed insurance operations: In 2004, the Zurich Insurance Group made some changes to the way it manages its business.

As a result, the Zurich insurance Group manages certain general and iife insurance operations on a central basis from its Corporate Center.
Therefore, these operations have been included within the Other Businesses segment, and total assets and liabilities of USD 20 billion have
been moved from the Life segrent to the Other Businesses segment. Further, the risks and rewards of the transferred businesses differ
from those centained within the Life segment. In addition, Reinsurance-rurn-off, which is also centrally managed, reflects the results of the
run-off of liabilities that were retained and that were not transferred to Converium, the Zurich Insurance Group’s fermer reinsurance
subsidiary, which was divested in 2001.

Corporate Center: Corporate Center includes our Zurich Insurance Group holding and financing companies, Corporate Center operations
and alternative investments. This segment also includes some Zurich Insurance Group internal reinsurance operations that are not attributable
tg a specific segment but are managed on a glabal basis.

The Zurich Insurance Group's secondary format for segment information is geographic:
North America Corporate

North America Consumer

Continental Europe

United Kingdom

Rest of the World

Centrally Managed Businesses

12 Zutich Insurance Group - Annual Report 2004




The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. The Zurich
nsurance Group accounts for inter-segment revenues and transfers as if the transactions were with third parties at current market prices,
with the exception of realized capital gains, which are eliminated.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Consolidation principles

The Zurich Insurance Group’s consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, equity, revenuas, expenses and cash flows

of Zurich Insurance Company and its subsidiaries. A subsidiary is an entity in which Zurich Insurance Company owns, directly or indirectly,
more than 50% of the outstanding voting rights, or which it otherwise has the power to control, The results of subsidiaries acquired

are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. The results of subsidiaries that have been sold during
the year are included up to the date control has ceased. All significant intercompany balances, profits and transactions are eliminated.
Transactions involving entities under common control are accounted for using the pooling of interest methods.

Associates and partnerships where the Zurich Insurance Group has the ability to exercise significant influence, as well as joint ventures
where there is joint control, are accounted for using the equity method. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Zurich Insurance
Group owns, directly or indirectly, between 20% and 50% of the outstanding voting rights.

{b) Revenue recognition

Premiums: Premiums from the sale of general insurance products are recorded when written and are accreted to earnings on a pro-rata
basis over the term of the related policy coverage. However, for those contracts for which the period of risk differs significantly from

the contract period, premiums are recognized over the period of risk in proportion to the amount of insurance protection provided. The
unearned premium reserve represents the portion of the premiums written relating to the unexpired terms of coverage.

Premiurms from traditional life insurance contracts, including participating contracts and annuity policies with life contingendies, are
recognized as revenue when due from the policyholder. Benefits and expenses are provided against such revenue to recognize profits over
the estimated life of the policies. Moreover, for single premium and limited pay contracts, premiums are recorded as income when due
with any excess profit deferred and recognized in income in a constant relationship to the insurance in-force or, for annuities, the amount
of expected benefit payments.

Amounts collected as premiumns from investment type contracts such as universal iife, unit-linked and unitized with-profits contracts, are
reporied as deposits. Revenue from these contracts consists of policy fees for the cost of insurance, administration and surrenders during the
period. Front-end fees are recognized aver the estimated fife of the contracts. Policy benefits and claims that are charged to expenses
include benefit claims incurred in the period in excess of related policyholder contract deposits and interest credited to policyhelder deposits.

Other revenue: Revenues from investment management and distribution fees are based on contractual fee arrangements applied to assets
under management and recognized as earned when the service has been provided.

Transfer agent fees are based on a cost per account and transaction-based fees. For mutual funds, a compenent of the transfer agent fee
can be contractual fee arrangements applied to assets under management. Transfer agent fees are recognized when services have been
provided per the contract. Commission revenue is recognized on the trade date when the performance obligation is complete and the fees
are payable.

Additionally, revenue can be earned from performance fees, which are based upon the achievernent of performance levels in excess of
pre-determined contractuai benchmarks. Performance fees are recognized when it is probable that they will be received and the amount
can be estimated reliably.

(c) Deferred policy acquisition costs .

The costs of acquiring new business, including commissions, underwriting and policy issue expenses, which vary with and are directly
related to the production of new business, are deferred. Deferred policy acquisition costs are subject fo recoverability testing at the time of
policy issue and at the end of each accounting period. Future investment income is taken into account in assessing recaverability.

Deferred policy acquisition costs for participating traditional life insurance contracts are amortized over the expected life of the contracts as a
constant percentage of estimated gross margins. Estimated gross margins include anticipated premiumns and investment results jess benefits
and administration expenses, changes in the net level premium reserve and expected policyholder dividends, as appropriate. Estimated gross
margins are re-estimated regularly with the impact of deviations of actual result from estimated experience on the amortization of deferred
acquisition costs reflected in earnings.

Deferred policy acquisition costs for other traditionat life insurance and annuity policies are amortized over the expected life of the contracts
as a constant percentage of expected premiums. Expected premiums are estimated at the date of policy issue and are consistently applied
throughout the [ife of the contract unless premium deficiency occurs.

Deferred policy acquisition costs for investment type contracts such as universal life, unit-linked and unitized with-profits contracts are
amortized over the expected life of the contracts based on a constant percentage of the present value of estimated grass profits expected
te be realized over the life of the contract. Estimated gross profits include expected amounts to be assessed for mortality, administration,
investment and surrender, less benefit claims in excess of policyholder balances, administrative expenses and interest credited. Estimated
gross profits are revised regularly and the interest rate used to compute the present value of revised estimates of expected gross profits is the
latest revised rate applied to the remaining benefit period. Deviations of actual results from estimated experience are reflected in earnings.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

The impact on the deferred policy acquisition cost asset of the change in unrealized gains or losses on investments Is recognized through
an offset to unrealized gains or losses at the balance sheet date.

Unamortized deferred pelicy acquisition costs associated with internally replaced contracts that are, in substance, contract modifications,
continue to be deferred and amartized. Costs associated with internally replaced contracts that are, in substance, new contracts, are
written off.

{d} Insurance losses and reserves

Losses: Losses and loss adiustment expenses are charged to income as incurred. Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expense reserves
represent the accumulation of estimates for ultimate losses and include provisions for losses incurred but not yet reported (IBNR). The reserves
represent estimates of future payments of reported and unreported claims for losses and related expenses with respect to insured events
that have occurred. Reserving is a complex process dealing with uncertainty, reguiring the use of informed estimates and judgments. The
Zurich Insurance Group does not discount its loss reserves, other than for settled claims with fixed payment terms. Any changes in estimates
are reflected in results of operations in the period in which estimates are changed.

Future life policyholders' benefits and policyholders’ contract deposits: These represent the estimated future policyholder benefit
liability for traditional life insurance policies and certain unit-linked investment contracts, respectively.

For participating traditional fife insurance policies, future policy benefit liabilities are calcutated using a net fevel premium method on the
basis of actuarial assumptions equal to guaranteed mortality and interest rates.

Future life policyholders' benefits for other traditional life insurance poficies are calculated using a net level premium valuation method
based on actuarial assumptions as to mortality, persistency, expenses and investment return including a margin for adverse deviation.The
assurnptions are established at policy issue and remain unchanged except where premium deficiency occurs.

Future life policyholders' benefits include the value of accurnulated dediared bonuses or dividends that have been vested to policyholders.
Policyholders’ contract deposits represent the accumulation of premiumn received less charges plus declared dividends.

The policyholdars’ share of unrealized gains or losses, which may be paid in the future in respect of assets, is included in future life
policyholders' benefits.

Reserves for unit-linked products are recorded as equal to the consideration received plus accumulated investment yield less any fees
charged or dividends paid to the policyholder.

“Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders” and “Insurance reserves for life insurance where the
investment risk is carried by policyholders™; These represent trading portfolios maintained to meet spedific investment objectives of
policyholders who bear the investment risk and which are bankruptcy protected from other creditors. Investment income and investment
gains and losses accrue directly to policyhelders. The assets and liabilities are carried at fair value. Deposits, withdrawals, net investmant
income, and realized and unrealized capital gains and losses are included in this position and are not reflected in the consolidated operating
staternent. The costs of insurance, policy administration, investment management, surrender charges and certain policyholder taxes assessed
against the policyholders’ account balances are included within palicy fee revenue,

For products containing guarantees in respect of minimum death benefits ("GMDB™), retirement income benefits ("GRIB”) and annuitization
options {"GAQ"), additional Jiabilities are tecorded in proportion with the receipt of the contracted revenues.

(e) Reinsurance

The Zurich Insurance Group's insurance subsidiaries cede insurance premiums and risk i the normal course of business in order to limit the
.potential for losses arising from longer exposures. Reinsurance does not relieve the originating insurer of its liability. Certain Zurich Insurance
Group insurance companies assume reinsurance business incidentai to their normal business, as well as from the Farmers Exchanges. Centre
ceased to write new contracis in 2003, but has honored its obligations and commitments with respect to existing contracts. Reinsurance
assets include balances due from reinsurance companies for paid and unpaid losses and loss adjustrent expenses, ceded unearned
premiums and ceded future fife policy benefits. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim
liability associated with the reinsured policy. Reinsurance is recorded gross in the consolidated balance sheet unless a right of offset exists.

Reinsurance contracts are assessed to ensure that underwriting risk, defined as the reasonable possibility of significant loss, and timing risk,
defined as the reasonable possibifity of 2 significant variation in the timing of cash flows, are transferred by the ceding company to the
reinsurer. Those contracts that do not transfer both risks, referred to in total as insurance risk, are accounted for using the deposit method.
A deposit asset or liability is recognized based on the consideration paid or received less any explicitly identified premiums or fees to be
retained by the ceding company. Deposits for contracts that transfer only significant underwriting risk are subsequentfy measured based on
the unexpired portion of coverage untit a loss is incurred, after which the present value of expected future cash flows under the contract is
added to the remaining unexpired portion of coverage. Changes in the deposit amount are recorded in the operating statement as an
incurred lass. Interest on deposits that transfer only timing tisk, or no risk at all, are accounted for using the interest method. Future cash
flows are estimated to calculate the effective yield, and revenue and expense are recorded as interest income or expense.
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(f} Investments

Financial assets are classified either as “held-to-maturity”, “trading”, “ available-for-sale”, or “loans originated by the Zurich Insurance Group™.
Held-to-maturity financial assets are debt securities which the Zurich Insurance Group has the ability and positive intent to hold to maturity.
Trading financial assets are debt and equity securities which the Zurich Insurance Group buys with the intention to resell in the near term.
The remaining debt and equity securities are classified as available-for-sale. Loans ariginated by the Zurich Insurance Group, such as mortgage
loans, policyholders’ collateral and other loans, include loans where money is provided directly to the borrower, other than those that are
originated with the intent to te sold in the short term, which are recorded in the trading category.

Financial assets are initially recorded at cost, net of transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Held-to-maturity financiai assets
are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Trading financial assets are subsequently carried at fair
value, with changes in fair vaiue recognized in the current period incame. Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair
value, with unrealized changes in fair value recorded in shareholders’ equity net of deferred income taxes, certain life policyholder liabilities,
certain [ife deferred acquisition costs and minority interests. Loans originated by the Zurich Insurance Group are subsequently carried at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, Jess allowances for doubtful accounts. '

The realized gain or Ioss an divestment is based on the difference between the proceeds received and the carrying value of the investment
plus any unrealized gains or losses of the investment recorded in shareholders’ equity using the specific identification method. When
available-for-sale financial assets are sold, impaired or otherwise disposed of, the cumulative gains and losses previously recognized in
shareholders’ equity are included in the current period income. The amortization of premium and accretion of discount on available-for-sale
and held-to-maturity investrnents in debt securities is computed using the effective interest method and is recegnized in current period
income. Dividends on equity securities are recorded as revenue on the ex-dividend date, the date that the dividends become payabie to the
holders of record. Interest incorne on financial assets is recognized when earned.

Financial assets are assessed for impairmeant on a regulfar basis. A financial asset is impaired if its carrying value exceeds the estimated

recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of impairment to the financial asset. For an impaired financial asset impairment is

recorded by reducing its carrying value through a charge to current period income. 1f an available-for-sale financial asset is determinad
to ke impaired, the cumulative unrealized loss previously recognized in shareholders’ equity is removed from shareholders’ equity and

recognized in the current period income.

For quoted available-for-sale financial assets the decision to make an impairment provision is based on review of the issuer's current financial
posiiion and future prospects and an assessment of the probability that the current market price will recover to former levels within the
foreseeable future. The recoverable amount is determined by reference to the market price. For non-quoted available-for-sale financial assets
the Zurich Insurance Group takes into consideration the issuers current financial position and future prospects in determining whether an
impairment provision is required. The recoverable amount is determined by applying recognized valuation technigues. When a decting in the
fair value of an available-for-sale asset has been recognized directly in shareholders’ equity and there is objective evidence that the asset

is impaired, the cumulative loss that had been recognized directly in shareholders' equity is removed from equity and recognized in current
period income even though the asset has not been de-recognized. The amount of the cumulative joss that is removed from shareholders’
equity and recognized in current period income is the difference between acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortization)
and current fair value, less any impairment toss on that asset instrument previously recognized in income.

For held-to-maturity finandcial assets and loans originated by the Zurich Insurance Group the impairment is considered to have taken place
if it is probable that the Zurich insurance Group will not be able to collect principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of
the instrument. When impairment is determined to have occurred, the carrying amount of the held-to-maturity financial assets is decreased
through a charge 1o current period incorne. The amount of the impairment loss is the difference between the asset’s carrying value and the
present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the security’s original effective interest rate,

. Real estate held for investment purposes is initially recorded at cost, with transaction costs included in the initial measurement. It is
subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in current period income. No depreciation is recorded for real
estate held for investment. The gain or loss on disposa! of real estate held for investment is based on the difference between the proceeds
received and the catrying value of the investment.

Short-term investments: Carrying amounts approximate fair values.

Cash amounts represent cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly fiquid investments with ariginal
maturities of 90 days or less.

(g) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value on the balance sheet as assets or liabilities. Fair values are obtained from guoted
market prices, dealer price quotations, discounted cash flow madeis and option pricing models, which incorporate current market and
contractual prices for the underlying instrument, time to expiry, yield curves and volatility of the underlying. Inputs used in pricing models
are generally market observable or can be derived from market observable data. Derivative financial instruments with positive fair values
are recorded as derivative trading assets. Derivative financial instruments with negative fair values are recorded as derivative trading
liabilities. Apart from derivative financial instruments designated as qualifying cash flow hedging instruments (see below), changes in fair
value are recognized in current period income.
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Derivative financial instruments include swaps, futures, forwards and option contracts, all of which derive their value mainly from underlying
interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity values or equity instruments. A derivative contract may be traded on an exchange or over-
the-counter (" OTC ). Exchange-traded derivatives are standardized and include futures and certain option contracts. OTC derivative contracts
are individually negotiated between contracting parties and include forwards, caps, floors and swaps. Derivative financial instruments are
subject to various risks similar to those related to the underlying financial instruments, including market, credit and liquidity risk.

in addition to the derivative financial instruments described above, the Zurich Insurance Group enters into contracts that ‘are not considered
derivative financial instruments in their entirety but that include embedded derivative features. Such embedded derivatives are assessed

at inception of the contract and, depending on their characteristics, are accounted for as separate derivative financial instruments pursuant
to 1AS 39. .

Derivative financial instruments used for hedging: For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either fair valye
hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or liability, or cash fiow hedges where they
hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable 1o a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or
a forecasted transaction.

To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging relationship must meet several strict conditions on documentation, probability of occurrence,
hedge effectiveness and reliability of measurement. If these conditions are not met, then the relationship does not qualify for hedge
accounting. In this case the hedging instrument and the hedged item are reported independently as if there was no hedging relationship.
In particular, derivative financial instruments are reported at fair value, with changes in fair value charged to current period income.

In relation to fair value hedges which meet the conditions for special hedge accounting, gains or losses from re-measuring the hedging
instrument at fair value are recognized immediately in the operating statement. Gains or losses on the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk are adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and recognized in the operating statement. Where the adjustment
is to the carrying amount of a hedged interest-bearing financial instrument carried at amortized cost, the adjustment is amortized to
current period income such that it is fully amortized by maturity.

In relation to cash flow hedges which meet the conditions for special hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognized directly in shareholders’ equity and the ineffective partion is
recognized in current period income. When the hedged firm commitment results in the recognition of an asset or a liability, then, at the
time the asset or liability is recognized, the associated gains or losses that had previously been recognized in shareholders® equity are
included in the initial measurernent of the acquisition cost or ather carrying amount of the asset or liability. For other cash flow hedges,
the gains or losses that are recognized in shareholders’ equity are transferred to the operating statement in the same period in which
the item hedged affects the net profit and loss, for example when the future sale actually occurs,

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for
hedge accounting. At that point in time, cumulative gains or losses on the hedging instrument recognized in shareholders’ equity are kept
in shareholders’ equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative
gain or loss recognized in shareholders’ equity is transferred to current period income.

{h) Securities lending

Certain entities within the Zurich Insurance Group participate in securities lending arrangements whereby specific securities ase [oaned

to other institutions, primarily major brokerage firms, for short periods of time. Under the terms of the securities lending agreements, the
loaned securities remain under the Zurich Insurance Group’s control and thus do not get de-recognized.

(i) Obligation to repurchase securities

Sales of securities under agreements to repurchase are accounted for as collateralized borrowing transactions and are recorded at their
contracted repurchase amount plus accrued interest at the balance sheet date. The Zurich Insurance Group minimizes the credit risk that
counterparties to transactions might be unable to fulfill their contractual obligations by monitoring customer credit exposure and
collateral value and generally requiring additionat collateral to be deposited with the Zurich Insurance Group when deemed necessary.

(i) Debt issued

Debt issued by the Zurich insurance Group is initially measured at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration received, net of
transaction costs incurred. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate methad to amortise cost at
inception to the redemption value over the life of the debt,

(k} interest expense
Interest expense is recognized when incurred on an amortized cost basis.

{1} Intangibie assets

Goodwill: Acquisitions of subsidiaries and associates are accounted for under the purchase method, whereby the purchase price is allocated
to the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired at the date of acquisition with any residual amount aliocated to goodwill. Goodwill is
amortized using the straight-line methad over its estimated economic life. Goadwill arising on strategic acquisitions of the Zurich insurance
Group to obtain long duration insurance contracts, customer relationships and distribution networks is amortized over a maximum period

of 20 years. For all other acquisitions, goodwill is generally amortized over five years. The recoverability of the carrying value of the goodwill
is reviewed periodically. If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds the recoverable amount, the carrying value is reduced through a charge

to current period earnings.
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Present value of profits of acquired insurance contracts is amortized cver the expected life of the policies acquired, based on a constant
percentage of the present value of estimated gross profits (margins) expected to be realized, or over the premium recognition period, as
appropriate.

Other intangibles are carried at cost Jess accumulated amortization and consist primarily of acquired brand names and software costs
that meet the recognition criteria for capitalization. The costs of these assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the foliowing
estimated econoimic lives; brand names 20 years; software three to five years.

(m) Income taxes

The 2urich Insurance Group provides current tax expense according 10 the tax laws of each jurisdiction in which it operates. Income taxes
are recognized using the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes are recorded for temporary differences, which are based on
the difference between financial staternent carrying amounts and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted income tax rates
and faws. Losses for tax purposes are treated as deferred tax assets to the extent it is probable that the losses can offset future taxable
income and is allowed by the applicable local tax laws and regulations.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income taxes are levied by the same taxation authority and when there
is a legally enforceabie right to offset them.

Taxes payable by either the holding company or its subsidiaries on distribution to the holding company of the undistributed profits of
subsidiaries are recognized as deferred income taxes unless a distribution of thdse profits is not intended or wouid not give rise o a tax
liability.

(n) Employee henefits

The operating companies in the Zurich Insurance Group provide employee retirement benefits through both defined benefit plans providing
specified benefits and defined contribution plans. The assets of these plans are generally held separately from the Zurich Insurance Greup’s
general assets in trustee-administered funds. Defined benefit plan obligations and contributions are determined annually by qualified
actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The Zurich Insurance Group’s expense related to these pians is accrued over the employees’
service periods based upon the actuarially determined cost for the period. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as income or expense
when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses for each individual plan at the end of the previous reporting year exceeded
10% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date. These gains or losses are recognized over
the expected average remaining warking lives of the employees participating in the plans. Contributions to the defined contribution pension
plans are charged to the operating statement as they become due.

Other defined post-employment benefits, such as medical care and life insurance, are also provided for certain employees and are primarily
funded internally. The cost of such benefits is accrued over the service period of the employee based upeon the actuarially determined cost for
the period.

(o) Share-based payment transactions
Expenses for share-based payment transactions are recognized during the vesting period in the operating statement. These expenses
recognize the fair value of the shares or options granted.

{p)} Fixed assets

Real estate (buildings) held for own use and other fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any necessary write-
downs due to impairment. The costs of these assets are depreciated principally on a straight-ine basis over the following estimated

useful economic lives: buildings 25 to 50 years; furniture and fixtures five to ten years; and computer equipment three to five years. Real
estate (land) is carried &t cost less any necessary write-downs. Maintenance and repair costs are charged to income as incurred. Costs

of systemns purchased from outside vendors and developed internally are deferred and amortized over expected useful lives up to five years.
Gains and losses on disposal of fixed assets and real estate held for own use are determined based on their respective carrying amounts.

(q) Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lassor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases are charged to the operating statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term,

{r} Provistons

Provisions are recognized when the Zurich insurance Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

{s} Foreign currency translation and transactions

Foreign currency translation: In view of the international nature of the Zurich Insurance Group there are many individual entities with
different functiona! currencies. Therefore, a common presentation currency is required. Due to the Zurich insurance Group’s economic
exposure to the US dollar {USD), the presentation currency of the Zurich Insurance Group has been detarmined to be the US dollar. Assets
and liabilities of Zurich Insurance Group companies with functional currencies other than US dollars are translated at the end-of-period
exchange rates, while operating statements are translated at average exchange rates for the period. The resulting translation differences
are recorded directly in shareholders’ equity as cumulative translation adjustments.
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Foreign currency transactions; Foreign currency monetary items are translated at end-of-period exchange rates, non-manetary items
which are carried at historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are translated at historical rates. Revenues and expenses are
transiated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction or a weighted average rate. The resulting exchange differences are
recorded in the consclidated operating statement.

The table below summarizes the principal exchange rates that have been used for translation purposes. The net gains and (losses) on
foreign currency transactions included in the consolidated operating statements were USD 172 million and USD (40} million for the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Operating statements
Table 2 Balance sheets and cash flows
Principal exchange rates as of for the years ended
USD per foreign currency unit 12/31/04  12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/03
Eurp 1.3555 1.2594 1.2440 1.1333
Swiss franc 0.8769 0.8072 0.8063 0.7446
British pound sterling 1.9183 1.7858  1.8329 1.6363

3. Implementation of new accounting standards and adjustments

The Accounting Standards Executive Committee (AcSEC) of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA} issued Statement

of Position 03-01 ("SOP 03-01"), Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts

and for Separate Accounts. OP 03-01 has resulted in three significant changes in the treatment of certain life contracts, which have been

adopted retrospectively, in accordance with 1AS 8:

¥ Recognition of additional liabilities for guaranteed minimum death benefits, quaranteed retirement income benefits and benefits in
respect of annuitization options on an accrual basis, primarily for life policies in the United States. The recognition of guarantee
liabilities resulted in a write-down of deferred policy acquisition costs, due o a reduction in future estimated gross profits supporting
these reserves.

iy Clarification of the distinction between universal life insurance and investrent products, resulting in certain products in the life
business now being treated as insurance. The classification as insurance consequently resulted in the retrospective accrual of additional
insurance reserves.

iiiy “Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders”, which are not bankruptcy protected from other creditors,
and “Insurance reserves for (ife insurance where the investment sisk is carried by poficyholders” were reclassified 1o total investments
and insurance reserves in the amount of approximately USD 1.6 billion. This change also resulted in the inclusion in the consolidated
operaiing statements of additional investrnent result arising from the reclassified investments and a substantially corresponding charge
in “policybolder dividends and participation in profits”. As a result, there is no material net impact on the Zurich nsurance Group's
operating results.

In January 2004 Zurich Insurance Company acquired 100% of Eagle Star Insurance Company Limited ("Eagle Star”) for USD 1,424 million

in cash. Both entities are ultimately controlled by the same party, being Zurich Financial Services. Hence, this was a transaction between
parties under comman cantral and therefore the pooling of interest method has been applied. Consequently, the financial statements were
restated as if Eagle Star had always been a wholly owned subsidiary of Zurich Insurance Company. The book value of the net assets acquired
exceeding the amount paid is presented as an increase in equity in the amount of USD 409 miltion.

The impact of the new accounting standard and the poofing of interest are summarized in the tables below

Table 3.9 accounr:ﬁwg Pooling

Summary of restatement of key consolidated operating statement Asprevicusly  standard  of interest  Restated
in USD millians, far the year ended December 31, 2003 reported  SOP03-D1  Eagle Star 2003
Revenues

Gross written premiums and policy fees 45,270 - 400 45,670
tess premiums ceded to reinsurers (8,269) - (112}  {8.381)
Net investment income 5,646 27 120 5,793
Benefits, losses and expenses '

Insurance benefits and losses, net of reinsurance (30,709) (69) {(150) (30,928)
Administrative expense (2,662) 16 {226) (2,872)
Net income before income taxes and minority interests 2,031 (53) (70) 1,908
income tax expense (867) 11 18 (838)
Net income applicable to minority interests (85} - (2} {87
Net income - 1,079 (42) (54) 983
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New

Table 3.2 accounting Pooling
Summary of restatement of key consolidated balance sheet items Aspreviously  standard of interest  Restated
in USD millions, as of December 31, 2003 reported  SOP03-01  Eagle Star 2003
Assets
Debt sacurities 87,719 845 801 89,465
Equity securities 12,285 613 277 13,175
Other investments 25,203 26 1,750 26,979
Cash and cash equivalents 10,557 2 576 11,135
Total investments 141,999 1,586 3,404 146,989
Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders 23,372 {1,586) - 21,786
Receivables 10,306 377 328 11,0114
Reinsurance assets 21,570 - 501 22,0M
Deferred policy acquisition costs 5,215 (237) 18 4,99
Deferred tax assets 2,644 2 240 2,886
Total assets 223,171 142 4,557 227,870
Liabilities
Insurance reserves, gross 146,354 1,959 2,220 150,533
Insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders 23,436 {1,565} - 21,87
Other liabilities 12,460 - 1.6477 14,107
Senijor and subordinated debt 9,293 - 183 9,476
Total liabilities 215,304 307 4,430 219,741
Minority interests 694 - 17 711
Shareholders’ equity
Net unrealized gains on investments 71 2 11 724
Cumulative translation adjustrment (2,548) - 91 (2,457}
Retained earnings 3,803 {166} 307 3,944
Totat shareholders' equity 7173 {164) 409 7,418
! Included in other lizbilities is the amount payable to the seller of Eagle Star of USD 1,424 milllion.
New
Table 3.3 accounting Pooling
Summary of restatement of key consolidated statement of cash flows items As previously  standard  of interest  Restated
in USD millions, for the year ended December 31, 2003 reported SOPO03-01  Eagle Star 2003
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income 1,079 (42) (54) 983
Insurance reserves, gross 7.277 585 (254) 7,608
Receivables and payables (1,174) (386) 156 (1,404)
Net cash provided by operating activities 7875 213 616 8,704
Cash flows from investing activities
Sales and maturities:
Debt securities 65,869 108 237 66,214
Equity securities 27,324 67 205 27,596
Purchases:
Dabt securities (75.594) {244) (630) (76,468}
Equity securities (19,940) (75) (69) (20,084)
Net cash used in investing activities {3.452) (t44) (183) (3,789}
Change in cash and cash equivalents 3,628 (6) 360 3,982
Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1 {opening balance} 6,929 8 216 7,153
Cash and cash equivaients as of December 31 10,557 2 576 11,135

The SOP 03-01 restatement adjustments have been recorded primarily in the Life Insurance segment, with the exception of the write-down
of deferred palicy acquisition costs which relate to business recorded in the Other Businesses segment. The restatement adjustments regarding

the pooling of interest (Eagle Star) relate 1o the General Insurance segment.
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fn 2004, amounts for the Zurich Insurance Group’s internal reinsurance transactions have been allocated to the specific regions that wrote
the underlying business, whereas in 2003 those results were recorded in the Centrally Managed Businesses region. The 2003 amounts have
been reclassified to conform to this presentation.

Forthcoming changes in accounting poticy .
For 2005 reporting, the Zurich Insurance Group will adopt new and amended accounting standards.

The International Accounting Standards Board {IASB) issued IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts’ on March 31, 2004. The publication of this
standard provides, for the first time, guidance on accounting for insurance contracts. This standard applies 1o all insurance contracts
(including reinsurance contracts) that an entity issues and to reinsurance contracts that it holds, except for specified contracts covered by
other IFRS standards, In accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard the Zurich Insurance Group will adopt IFRS 4 as of
January 1, 2005, The most significant change as a result of the adoption of the standard is the re-classification of certain contracts as
financial instruments and hence application of |A5 39 to these contracts. The adoption of IFRS 4 does not provide comprehensive guidance
on the accounting treatment for insurance contracts and as such the Zurich Insurance Group will continue to apply US GAAP in certain
circumstances where IFRS is sient.

The [ASB issued IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” on March 31, 2004. In accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard, the

Zurich Insurance Group has applied this standard to business combinations for which the agreement date is on or after March 31, 2004.

The remaining requirernsents of IFRS 3 will be adopted as of january 1, 2005. The most significant changes required by this standard are:

» All business combinations within its scope are to be accounted for using the purchase method, previously 1AS 22 permitted business
combinatians to be accounted for using the poeling of interests method in certain circumstances.

* The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are to be recognized as part of allocating the cost of the combination

to be measured initially by the acquirer at their fair values at the acquisition date. Therefore, any minority interest in the acguiree is stated

at the minority’s proportion of the net fair values of those items.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is to be measured after initial recognition at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Therefore, the goodwill is not amortised and instead must be tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in

circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.

IAS 36 "Impairment of Assets” and IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” were revised in March 2004 by the IASB as part of the Business Combinations
Project. Consistent with the Zurich Insurance Group's adoption of IFRS 3, the revised standards will be adopted as of January 1, 2005.

The 1ASB issued IFRS 5 "Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” an March 31, 2004. The standard adopts the
classification “held for sale”, introduces the concept of a disposat group, and specifies that assets or disposal groups that are classified as
held for sale are carried at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. It also replaces IAS 35 regarding the accounting
freatment for discontinued operations. In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 5 the standard will be adopted by the Zurich
Insurance Group as of January 1, 2005, The most significant impact for the Zurich Insurance Group may be the re-classification of some
of its assets as “held for sale.”

I1A3 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” was revised in December 2003 as part of the [ASB' project to improve [AS 32

"Financial instrurments: Disclosure and Presentation™ and 14539, A further amendment was made in March 2004. This change related

10 Fair Value Hedge Accounting for a Portfolio Hedge of Interest Rate Risk. 1AS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”

should be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2005. The most significant changes are as follows:

* The standard clarifies that the evaluation of the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership precedes the evaluation of the transfer of
control for all derecognition transactions.

* The standard permits an entity to designate any financial asset or financial liability on initial recognition as one t¢ be measured at fair
value, with changes in fair value recegnized in profit or loss. To impose discipline on this categorization, an entity is precluded from
reclassifying financial instruments into or out of this category.

¢ The standard provides additional guidance about how to determine fair values using valuation techniques.

« The standard clarifies that an impairment loss is recognized only when it has been incurred. It also provides additional guidance on what
events provide objective evidence of impairment for investments in equity instruments.

* Hedges of firm commitments are 1o be treated as fair value hedges rather than cash flow hedges. However, the standard clarifies that
a hedge of the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment can be treated as either a cash flow hedge or a fair value hedge.

The Zurich Insurance Group has not yet quantified the impact these changes will have on the Zurich Insurance Group's financial position
or results.




4. Changes in the scope of consolidation

During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Zurich Insurance Group completed divestments of several businesses and
recognized post-completion adjustments. The total net gain on alt divestments made during the year before tax was USD 83 million

and USD 238 million, and the after-tax net gain on divestments was USD 68 millior and USD 218 million for 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Total cash consideration received was USD 2,484 million in 2004 and USD 2,576 million in 2003.

Table 4

Net gain on significant divestments only

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003
Consideration received 2,484 2,504
Less: net assets divested (2.357) (2,232)
Costs related to divestments (44) (41)
Net gain on divestments before tax 83 231

Net assets divested

Cash and cash equivalents 435 318
Other assets 6,091 19,566
Insurance liabilities ‘ (4,014)  (8,080)
Other liabilities (155) (9,572)
Net assets divested 2,357 2,232

The Zurich Insurance Group's most significant transactions affecting the scope of consolidation during the years ended December 31, 2004
and 2003 were as described below.

Changes in 2004

In Belgium and Luxembourg, the Zurich Insurance Group completed the sale to P&V Assurances of its life insurance cperations (both
consumer and commercial}, its workers' compensation portfolio and its general insurance operations in the consumer and small commercial
segments, recognizing a loss of USD 30 million before tax.

The Zurich Insurance Group completed several other divestments with a net gain of USD 23 million before tax. These included the sale
of its interests in Thai Zurich Insurance Company, life insurance policies written by the Zurich Insurance Group's Taiwanese branch,
Turegum Insurance Company, the real-estate investment company Zdrich Atrium B.V., Zurich Insurance (Singapore) Pte. Ltd, Zirich
Krankenversicherung AG (Deutschland) as well as its stake in Globale Krankenversicherungs-AG, Zurich Life Phifippines and McMillan
Shakespeare Australia Pty Limited.

The companies and businesses divested in 2004 contributed, before their sale, a net loss of USD 19 million to the Zurich insurance Group's
2004 resylts compared to a net income of USD 19 million in 2003.

During 2004, the Zurich Insurarce Group has aiso recognized several post-completion adjustments for divestments closed in 2003, The total
aggregate post completion gain was USD 90 million, The most significant impacts were from the finalization of the sale of Threadneedle
Asset Management Holdings Ltd., RUd, Blass & Cie AG and the transfer of certain derivative transactions, credit facilities and related assets
of Zurich Capital Markets to BNP Paribas.

Changes in 2003

The Zurich insurance Group completed the sale of certain operations of Zurich France to Assicurazioni Generali SpA, recognizing a loss of
USD 81 miflion before tax. The transaction included the life insurance operations (including Eagle Star business) and parts of consumer and
commercial lines of the general insurance cperations,

On October 31, 2003, the Zurich Insurance Group completed the sale of Zurich Life Assurance Company {Zurich Life), one of the UK Life
businesses, to Swiss Re, recognizing a gain of USD 128 million before tax.

On September 30, 2003, the Zurich insurance Group completed the sale of Threadneedle Asset Management Holdings Ltd. to American
Express Financial Corporation, recognizing 2 gain on divestments of USD 266 million before tax.

The Zurich Insurance Group completed the sale of Zurich Life, part of its US life and annuity operations, to Bank One Corpaoration on
September 3, 2003, recognizing a loss on divestment of USD 165 million before tax. Kemper Investors Life Insurance Company was not part
of the saie and i$ retained by the Zurich Insurance Group.

On September 1, 2003, the Zurich Insurance Group completed the sale of parts of its Dutch operations to SNS Reaat Groep N.V,, recognizing
a gain on divestrnent of USD 114 million before tax. SNS Reaal acquired all of the Zurich Insurance Group's life operations as well as general
insurance operations in the consumer and smail business segments in the Netherlands.

On March 31, 2003, the Zurich Insurance Group completed the sale of Riid, Blass & Cie AG, Bankgeschaft 1o Deutsche Bank (Suisse) SA.
For this transaction, a significant portion of the sales proceeds could not be recognized at the time of sale, as it was contingent cn the
development of assets under management over a period of 15 months subsequent to the closing. Finalization was completed in 2004.

In 2003, the companies and businesses divested contributed USD 128 million to the Zurich Insurance Group’s net income.
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As of December 31, 2003, Zurich Capital Markets ("ZCM") consolidated Zurich Premier Series Ltd. {*Premier”), an investment company.
2CM's equity interest in the investment company increased from 32% to 59% during the year with the-majority interest acquired on
December 31, 2003. As a result of the consolidation of Premier, "Trading equity partfolios in capital markets and banking activities” and
“other liabilities” increased by USD 638 million,

5. Investments

A summary of net investment income and net capital gains and losses and impairments is given below.

Net capital

Table 5.1 Nat investment gains/(losses) and
Investment result income impairments? Investment result
in USD millions, for the years ended Decembear 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Dabt securities 3,809 4,034 671 1,323 4,480 5,357
Equity securities 200 457 (353} {528} 47 (71)
Investments in associates 86 a0 (33) (19 53 71
Other investments:
Investments held by investment companies 7 11 147 113 154 124
Rea! estate held for investment 424 427 {52} {43} 372 384
Mortgage foans, policyholdess’ collateral and other loans 984 686 185 68 1,169 754
Shori-term investments - 90 62 - 1 20 63
Other? 131 a7 a7 413 178 (322}
Cash and cash equivalents 160 179 1 - 161 179
investment resylt, gross 6,091 6,043 613 496 6,704 6,539
Investment expenses? (247) {250) - - (247) {250}
Investment result, net 5,844 5,793 613 496 6,457 6,289

' impairments on tota! investments amounted to LSD 166 million in 2004 and LSD 1,059 million in 2003,

Yincluding net capital gains/(iosses) on derivative finandia! insttuments of USD 45 rrillion in 2004 and USD (416) million in 2003.

3 Including rental operating expense for real estate held for investment of USD 131 million in 2004 and USD 105 miliion in 2003,

The details of the investment balances as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 are given in the tables below,

Table 5.2 2004 2003
Breakdown of investments usp % UsD %
as of Decernber 31 millions of total millions af totai
Debt securities:

Available-for-sale 84,437 54.0% 79,967 54.5%
Held-to-maturity 5,855 3.7% 3,886 2.6%
Trading 6,109 3.9% 5.612 3.8%
Total debt securities 96,401 61.6% 89,465 60.9%
Equity securities {inciuding trading equity portfolios in capital markets and banking activities):

_Available-for-sale 11,051 74% 12,498 8.5%
Trading 3,601 2.3% 4,980 3.4%
of which: — Trading equity portfolios in capital markets and banking activities 2,773 1.8% 4,303 2.9%

— Investments for unit-linked products 758 0.5% 612 0.4%
Total equity securities 14,652 9.4% 17478 11.9%
Holdings in related companies ) 941 0.6% 941 0.6%
Investments in associates 645 04% 991 0.7%
Other invesiments:
investments held by investment companies 1,670 1.1% 1,519 1.0%
Real estate held for investment 6,727 4.3% 6,753 4.6%
Mortgage loans 8,606 5.5% 9,605 6.5%
Policyhoiders' colfateral and other loans 15,016 89.6% g117 2.5%
Short-term investments 859 0.6% 900 0.6%
Other - 94 0.1% 85 0.1%
Total other investments 32,972 21.2% - 26,979 18.3%
Cash and cash equivalents 10,706 6.8% 11,135 7.6%
Total 156,317 100.0% 146,989 100.0%

Short-term investments include investments that have an eriginal maturity of less than one year.
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Cash and investments with a carrying value of USD 7,777 million and USD 7,065 million were depaosited with regulatory authorities as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, debt securities with a carrying value
of UsD 1,792 million and USD 1,520 million have been sold to financial institutions under short-term sale and repurchase agreements,
These securities continue to be recognized as investments in the balance sheets and an obligation to repurchase them is included

in liabilities in the balance sheets at that date. On December 31, 2004 and 2003, the volume of securities loaned out by the Zurich
Insurance Group under securities lending programs was USD 13.3 billion and USD 5.3 bifiion respectively.

Amortized Estimated
Table 5.3 cost fair value
Debt securities maturity schedule Held-to-maturity Available-for-sale
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003
Less than one year 181 106 8,707 4,044
One year through five years 1,195 287 29,133 28,300
Five years through ten years 9438 249 25310 27,268
Over ten years 3,531 3,244 10,280 11,873
Subtotal 5,855 3,886 73,430 71,485
Moartgage and asset-backed securities - - 11,007 8,482
Total 5,855 3,886 84,437 79,967

The amortized cost and estirnated fair values of debt securities held-to-maturity and available-for-sale are shown by contractual maturity.
Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because certain borrowers have the right to call or prepay certain obligations with

or without call or prepayment penalties.

Table 5.4

Equity securities {including trading equity portfolios 2004 2003

in capital markets and bankihg activities) UsD % of total Ust % of total
as of December 31 millions investments millions  investiments
Common stocks, including equity unit-trusts 9,189 5.9% 10,919 7.5%
Unit-trusts (debt securities, real estate, short-term investments) 2,690 1.7% 2,256 1.5%
Trading equity portfolios in capital markets and banking activities 2,773 1.8% 4,303 2.9%
Total 14,652 9.4% 17,478 11.9%
Table 5.5 Cost o:; Gross Gross Estimated
Available-for-sale securities amortized cost unrealized gains unrealized losses fairvalue

in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Debt securities - available-for-sale

Swiss federal and cantonal governments 8,808 8,170 455 404 (12) (12) 9,341 8,562
United Kingdom government 4,555 4,390 16 10 & (61) 4,577 4,339
United States government 7.413 9,144 70 130 {81) (25) 7,402 9,246
QOther governments 24,587 24,292 815 565 (11) (261) 25,391 24,596
Corporate securities 25,879 23,780 930 904 {95} {226) 26,714 24,458
Mortgage and asset-backed securities 10,801 8,198 248 347 (42) (63) 11,007 8,482
Redeemable preferred stocks 5 2384 - - - - 5 284
Total debt securities — available-for-sale 82,138 78,255 2,534 2,360 {23%5) {648) 24,437 79,967
Equity securities - available-for-sale

Common stock 6,518 9,233 955 936 687y {(1,514) 6,786 8,655
Unit-trust 4,288 3,945 109 66 (268) (301) 4,129 3.710
Non-redeemable preferred stock 131 145 21 3 (16} (15) 136 133
Total equity securities — available-for-sale 10,937 13,323 1,085 1,005 (o71) (1,830) 11,051 12,498
Teble 5.6

Realized capital gains/ (losses) and impairments

on available-for-sale debt and equity securities Debt securities Equity securities Total

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Gross realized capital gains — available-for-sale 655 1,664 527 1,352 1,182 3,016
Gross realized capital losses — available-for-sale {139) {250} (702) (1,385 841y (1,635
Impairments — available-for-sale ) (15) {41) {123) (289) (138)  (1,030)
Total 501 1,373 (298) (1,022) 203 351
Table 5.7

Net capital gains/(losses) on trading debt and equity securities Debt securities Equity securities Total

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Net capital gains/{losses) on trading debt and equity securities 170 (50 {55) 494 115 444
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Tahle 5.8 Share in Ownership
Investments in associates Carrying value profit/ {loss) interest
in USD mitlions 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Capital Z Financial Services Fund i LB United States 379 371 66 59 29.43% 2941%
The Guarantee Company of North America, Canada 88 82 2 2 32.08% 32.08%
PSP Swiss Property AG, Switzerland' - 269 1" 19 12.40% 2234%
Other 178 269 7 10 n/m n/m
Total 645 991 86 90 n/m n/m
T Since May 13, 2004, PSP Swiss Property AG, Switzerland has no longer been classified as an investment in associates, as the Zurich Insurance Group's ownership interest declined below 20%.
Table 5.9
Real estate held for investment
in USD mitlions 2604 2003
Carrying value as of January 1 (cpening balance) 6,753 6,088
Additions and capital improvements 98 291
Disposals {340) (466}
Market value revaluation . (22) (29)
Transfer to assets held for own use (278) {47
Foreign currency translation effects 516 916
Carrying value as of December 31 (closing balance) 6,727 6,753

Real estate held for investment consists of investments in commercial, residential and mixed-use properties primarily located in Switzerland,
Germany and the United Kingdom.

Lazlfei:i(;.ed gains/(losses) on investments included in shareholders’ equity

in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003
Debt securities — available-for-sale 2,299 1,713
Equity securities — available-for-sale 114 (825}
Other 18 {(137)
Less amount of net unrealized (gains)/iosses on investments attributable to:

Life poticyholder dividends and other policyholder liabilities (1,075) 304
tife deferred acquisition costs (104) (56)
Deferred income taxes ' (3949) (261)
Minority interests (39) (14}
Total 819 724

6. investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders and insurance reserves
for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders
Table 6

investments held on account and at risk of {ife insurance policyholders and
insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders

in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003
Debt securities 150 235
Equity securities 22,867 20,986
Collateral and other loans 4 6
Other investments 797 453
Cash and cash equivalents 84 106
Total investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders 23902 21,786
Total insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders 23,974 21,871

In certain countries, " Insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders” include amounts due to
policyholders as well as deferred front-end fees and, thus, the reserves are carried at a higher amount than the total “investments held on
account and at risk of life insurance policyholders”.

The implementation of SCP 03-01, as discussed in note 3, resulted in a reciassification of the assets and reserves for products sald in certain
countries to their respective investment categories and insurance reserves as they do not meet the criteria for classification as “separate
accounts”. The effects are disclosed in note 3. The remaining balances represent products that consist primarily of variable life insurance and
annuity products for which the policyholder directly bears the investment risk of the related assets.
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7. Fair value of financial instruments and other investmeants

The methods and assumptions used by the Zurich Insurance Group in estisnating the fair value of the financial instruments and other

investments are discussed below.

* Debt and equity securities: Fair values are based on quoted market prices when available. If quoted market prices are not available, then
fair values are estimated on the basis of pricing models, discounted cash flow or other recognized valuation technigues. :

* Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. Accordingly, these participations are carried at the Zurich Insurance f
Group’s proportional interest of the investee's shareholders” equity, The fair value of these entities, particularly for publicly traded entities, ‘t
may differ from the carrying value. ' i

« Investments held by investment companies: Estimated fair values are determined by the investment managers. !

» Real estate held for investment: Fair value is determined on a regular basis with reference to current market conditions,

+ Mortgage loans: Fair values of loans on real estate are estimated using discounted cash flow calculations based upon the Zurich Insurance p
Group’s current incremental lending rates for similar types of loans. 4

+ Policyholders’ collateral and other loans: Fair values are estimated on the basis of discounted cash flow, pricing models, or other recognized
valuation techniques.

» Short-term investments: Carrying amounts approximate fair values.

e Cash and cash equivalents: Carrying amounts approximate fair vatues.

¢ Derivative trading assets and liabilities: Fair values are based on quoted market prices, dealer price quotations, discounted cash flow
models and option pricing models.

¢ Debt; Fair values are estimated using discounted cash flow calculations based upen the Zurich Insurance Group's current incremental
borrowing rates for similar types of borrowings with maturities consistent with those remaining for the debt being vatued.

+ Obligations to repurchase securities: Carrying amounts approximate fair value.

Table 7 Tota! Total

Fair value of financial instruments fair value carrying value
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003
Debt securities 96,608 89,524 96,401 89,465
Equity securities {incl. trading equity portfolios in capital markets and banking activities} 14,652 17,478 14652 17,478
Investments in associates 647 991 645 991
Other Investments:

Investments held by investment companies 1,670 . 1,518 1,670 1.519
Real Estate held for investment 6,727 6,753 6,727 6,753
Mortgage loans 8,517 9,661 8,606 9,605
Policyholders’ collateral and other foans 15,556 8,119 15,016 8,117
Short-term investments 859 900 859 900
Other 24 85 94 85
Total other investments 33,423 27,037 32,972 26,979
Cash and cash equivalents 10,706 11,135 10,706 11,135
Derivative trading assets 1,437 2,569 1,437 2,569
Total of financial instruments (assets) 157,473 148,734 156,813 148,617
Debt (14,491) {15,601} {14,198) (15,30%)
Obligations to repurchase securities (1,792) (15200 (1,792)  (1,520)
Derivative trading liabilities (1,268 {2,413) (1.264) (2,413)
Total of financial instruments (liabilities) (17,547) (19,534) (17.254) (19,234)

8. Derivative financial instruments

(a} Principles ‘

The Zurich Insurance Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage risks related to its capital, assets and labilities and its
commitments to third parties, The Zurich Insurance Group, due to its multinational operations, has foreign currency exposure and, due to
the long-term nature of some of its insurance reserves, has exposure to interest rate and reinvestment risks. The Zurich Insurance Group
uses derivative financial instruments to mitigate the risks posed by changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. Therefore, derivative
financial instruments are part of insurance, investment, asset-liability management, capital raising or cash management activities and must
conform to the general quidelines of the Zurich Insurance Group far these activities, which are documented and reviewed for compliance
by the Zurich Insurance Group. If the Zurich Insurance Group were required to seitle outstanding derivative positions, the sum of gains and
losses would not be material to the Zurich insurance Group as of December 31, 2004,

Zurich Capital Markets (*ZCM”) has a portfolio of derivative products for the benefit of its customers. ZCM does not engage ir: proprietary
trading. ZCM’s positions on derivative financial instruments are separately reported in subsection (d) of this note.

For interest rate caps, floors and swap transactions, forward and futures contracts and options wiritten, only the potential market value of
the instruments represents a credit risk to the Zurich Insurance Group. The Zurich insurance Group controls the credit risk of its interest rate
swap agreemnents and forward and futures contracts through credit approvals, limits and monitoring procedures.
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To limit credit risk exposure detivative financial instruments are typically executed with counterparties rated A or better by Standard & Poor’s.
Wherever possible, efforts are undertaken to net the credit exposure with individual counterparties in compliance with applicable laws.

The term "contractual amount” is used for derivative financial instruments for which an exchange of the principal sum at maturity couid take
place, e.g. aptions, futures, currency swaps. The term “netional amount” describes instruments for which the principal sum is only notionaily
lent or borrowed, e,g. interest swaps, forward rate agreements {FRAs}). The notional principal amounis are used 1o express the extent of the
Zurich Insurance Group's involvement in derivative transactions. This standard measurement of the volume of derivative transactions is not a
quantification of market risk or credit risk and it may not necessarily be recorded on the baiance sheet.

{b) Derivative financial instruments used

Interest rate and currency swaps: nterest rate swaps are contractual agreements between two parties 10 exchange periedic payments

in the same currency, each of which is computed on a different interest rate basis, on a specified notional amount. Most interest rate

swaps involve the net exchange of payments calculated as the difference between the fixed and floating interest payments. Currency swaps,
in their simplest form, are contractual agreements that involve the exchange of both periodic and final amounts in two different currencies.
Exposure to loss on both types of swap contracts will increase or decrease over their respective lives as a function of maturity dates, interest
and foreign exchange rates, and the timing of payments. The Zurich Insurance Group uses currency swaps to manage the currency and
interest rate risk of its debt issuances.

Interest rate futures, forwards and options contracts: Interest rate futures are exchange-traded instruments and represent commitments
to purchase or sell a designated security or money market instrument at a specified future date and price. Interest rate forward agreemenis
are traded over-the-counter (*OTC™) where two parties agree on an interest rate and other terms that will become a reference point in
determining, in concert with an agreed notional principal amount, a net payment to be made by one party 1o the other, depending on what
rate in fact prevails at a future point in time. Interest rate options, which consist primarily of caps and floors, are interest rate protection
instruments that involve the obligation af the seller to pay the buyer an interest rate differential in exchange for a premium paid by the
buyer. This differential represents the difference between the current rate and an agreed rate applied to a notional amount. Exposure to loss
on interest rate contracts will increase or decrease over their respective lives as interest rates fluctuate. for interest rate futures and
exchange-traded options, the Zurich insurance Group's exposure to off-balance sheet credit risk is limited, as these transactions are executed
on organized exchanges that assume the obligation of the counterparty and generally require security deposits and daily settlement of
margins,
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Foreign exchange contracts: Foreign exchange contracts, which include spot, forward and futures contracts, represent agreements o
exchange one currency for another currency at an agreed price and settlernent date. Foreign exchange option contracts are simifar to
interest rate option contracts, except that they are based on currencies, rather than interest rates. Exposure 1o oss on these contracts will
increase or decrease over their respective lives as currency exchange and interest rates fluctuate. For exchange-traded foreign exchange
contracts, the Zurich Insurance Group's exposure 1o off-balance sheet credit risk is limited, as these transactions are executed on organized
exchanges that assume the obligation of counterparties and generally require security deposits and daily settlement of margins.

{c} Outstanding positions of the Zurich Insurance Group (excluding ZCM)

Table 8.1

Maturity profile of notional principal amounts and

market valyes of derivative financial instruments Notional

{excluding ZCIV) Remaining life principal amounts Market values
int USD mitlions, as of December 31 Up totyear 1ioSyears over5years 2004 2003 2004 2003
Swaps

Interest rate swaps - 158 135 293 784 (3) (50
Currency swaps - 523 3,160 3,683 765 306 132
Total return equity swaps 1 2,663 2,524 5,188 5,324 (249) (173)
Other swaps - 178 - 178 - (1) -
Options

Purchased call options 1,970 312 4 2,236 583 23 7
Purchased put options - 1,173 - 1,173 1,893 20 43
Written call options - 792 303 1.095 2,251 (137) {146)
Written: put options ~ - - - 245 4) 3
Futures/forwards

Purchased futures/forward contracts 8,459 - - 8,459 8,453 87 44
Wiritten futures/forward contracts ~ - 37 37 - (9} -
Total 10,430 5,799 6,163 22,392 20,298 39 (146}
of which;

derivative trading asset 573 417
derivative trading liability (534} {563)

26 Zurich Insurance Group - Annual Report 2004

[ .




(d} Qutstanding positions of Zurich Capital Markets (“ZCV")

ZCM's risk management model focused on controlling incremnental risk and actively monitoring existing portfolio risk. Existing portfolio risk is
monitored through a variety of quantitative measures including Value-at-Risk (VaR) and stress testing.

Table 8.2

Maturity prafile of notional principal amounts and Notional

market values of derivative financial instruments (ZCM) Remaining life principal amounts Market values

in USD millions, as of Decamber 31 Up to1year 1to Syears over 5years 2004 2003 2004 2003
Swaps

interest rate swaps 2,107 3,286 5,295 10,688 12,507 94 11
Currency swaps 453 68 26 547 1,473 (6) 7
Total return equity swaps 21 - 67 88 313 (26) 41y
Other swaps - - - - 105 - m
Options

Purchased call options 272 - - 272 209 272 1,490
Purchased put options 198 446 797 1,411 1,497 (28) 59
Written call options 40 186 33 259 3,253 {205)  (1,248)
Written put options 181 521 1,520 2,222 2,342 21 {12)
Futures/forwards

Purchased futures/forward contracts 420 - - 420 1,360 36 70
Sald futures/forward contracts 443 ~ - 443 1,333 (24) (33)
Total 4,135 4,507 7,738 16,380 24,392 134 302
of which:

derivative trading asset 864 2,152
derivative trading liability {730)  (1,850)
9. Insurance benefits, losses and expenses

Table 9.1

Breakdown of insurance benefits, losses and expenses Gross Ceded Net

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Losses and loss adjustment expenses

27,895 24,609

{4,957) {4,090) 22,938 20,519

Life insurance death and other benefits

11,555 5,203

(153) (346) 11,402 8,857

(Decrease)/increase in future life policyholders’ benefits

{2,083) 1,575

(14) (23)  (2,097) 1,552

Total insurance benefits and losses

37,367 35,387

(5.124) (4,459 32,243 30,928

of which:
Lasses and loss adjustment expenses paid

21,546 20,852

{a,516) (47390 17,030 16,113

Tabie 9.2

Breakdown of policyholder dividends and participation in profits Gross Ceded Net :
" n UsD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 :

Total policyholder dividends and participation in profits 1,059 33 1 41 1,060 372 3

Table 9.3

Breakdown of underwriting and policy acquisition costs Gross Ceded Net

in USC millians, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Underwriting and policy acquisition costs 7,379 7,024 {1,197) {1,437} 6,182 5,593

The impact of the adoption of SOP (03-01 is discussed in note 3.
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10. Insurance reserves

Table 101

lnsurance reserves

in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Gross

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 56,860 50,437

Reserves for unearned premiums 13,917 13,577

Future iife policyholders’ benefits 70,737 68,514

Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds 17,855 16,422

Reserves for unit-linked products 2,071 1,583

Tatal insurance reserves, gross 161,440 150,533

Ceded ‘
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses {14,313} (14,046} ‘
Reserves for unearned premiums (2,097} (2,157) ;
Future life policyholders’ benefits (501) {458) !
Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds (3,679) (3,799) !
Total ceded reserves {reinsurers’ share of insurance reserves} (20,590) (20,460) ;
Net }
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 42,547 36,391
Reserves for unearned premiums 11,820 . 11,420 }
Future fife policyholders’ benefits ' 70,236 68,056 !
Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds 14,176 12,623 ‘
Reserves for unit-linked products 2071 1,583
Total insurance reserves, net 140,850 130,073

Reserves for unit-linked products relate 1o the implementation of SOP 03-01 as discussed in note 3.

Eg\f;&ixment of reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses

in USD millions 2004 2003

As of January 1{opening halance)

Gross reserves for tosses and loss adjustrment expenses 50,437 45,290

Reinsurance recoverable {14,046) (14,901) -
Net reserves for losses and loss adiustment expenses 36,391 30,389 i
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred .
Current perfiod 20,884 18,652 i
Prior years 2,054 1,867 ) ‘
Total 22,938 20,519 E
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses paid ’ 1
Current year (7.370)  (7.333) i
Prior years ‘ (9,660)  (8,780)
Total {17,030) (16,113)

Divestments of companies and businesses ‘ (743) (193)

Foreign currency translation effects 991 1,789

As of December 31 (closing balance)

Net reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 42,547 36,391

Reinsurance recoverable 14,313 14,046

Gross reserves for losses and foss adjustment expenses 56,860 50,437

The Zurich Insurance Group establishes loss reserves, which are estimates of future payments of reported and unreported claims for losses
and refated expenses, with respect to insured events that have occurred. Reserving is a complex process dealing with uncertainty, requiring
the use of informed estimates and judgments. Any changes in estirmates are reflected in the operating statements in the period in which
estimates are changed. '

Significant delays occur in the notification of claims and a substantial measure of experience and judgment is involved in assessing
outstanding fiabilities, the ultimate cost of which cannot be known with certainty as of the balance sheet date. The reserves for losses and
loss adjustment expenses are determined on the basis of information currently available; however, it is inherent in the nature of the
business written that the ultimate liabilities may vary as a result of subsequent developments.
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Deferred charges relating to retrospective reinsurance assumed totaling USD 182 million and USD 265 million as of December 31, 2004 and \
2003, respectively, have been deducted from reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses.

Management has considered environmental and iatent injury claims and claims expenses in establishing the reserves for losses and loss
adjustrnent expenses. The Zurich Insurance Group continues to be advised of claims asserting injuries from toxic waste, hazardous materials
and other environmental pollutants and alleged damages to cover the clean-up costs of hazardous waste dumpsites relating to policies
written in prior years and indemnity claims asserting injuries from asbestos. Coverage and claim settlement issues, such as determination that
coverage exists and the definition of an accurrence, may cause the actual loss development to exhibit more variation than the remainder

of the Zurich Insurance Group's book of business. Such claims cannot be estimated with traditional reserving technigues and, accordingty,
the uncertainty with respect to the ultimate cost of these types of claims has been greater than the uncertainty relating to standard lines

of business.

The uncertainties arise out of changes or potential changes in various laws or the interpretation of laws. While the Zurich Insurance Group
believes that it has made adeguate provision for these claims, it is possible that future adverse development could have a material effect

on the Zurich Insurance Group’s results of operations, cash flows and financial position. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the net reserve
amounts related to these daims included above were USD 2,919 million and USD 2,979 million, respectively.

S T AR T AR i b T i

Reinsurance

The Zurich Insurance Group completed a review of various reinsurance arrangements whereby certain risks were ceded by local business
units of the Zurich Insurance Group to third-party reinsurers who in turn partly or fufly retroceded such risks to other business units of
the Zurich Insurance Group. The scope of the review was to determine the impact, if any, for financial or regulatory reporting. The review
included in-force arrangements as well as arrangements that had existed previously but had been commuted or otherwise terminated.
As a result of this review, the Zurich Insurance Group determined, with the concurrence of its external auditors, that it was not necessary
to restate the comparative financial statements.

The Zurich Insurance Group nevertheless determined that certain changes should be made to the manner in which such transactions were
accounted for as a result of the way these arrangements developed over time, Accordingly, the Zurich Insurance Group recorded a charge
before tax of approximately USD 140 million {approximately USD 100 million after tax} in 2004 in order to align the accounting treatment of
the transactions with Zurich Insurance Group accounting policy.

If these transactions were accounted for on the basis now viewed as appropriate in the years the transactions were initially recorded, the
Zurich Insurance Group estimates that its consolidated net income before income taxes and minority interests would have been
approximately USD 165 million greater in 2003. Further, it is estimated that net income for 2003 would have been USD 140 million higher.
Dug to reductions in net operating results that would have been incurred in prior years, the Zurich Insurance Group estirates that the
related impact on its consclidated shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2003 would have been a reduction of approximately USD 190 millicn,
and a reduction of approximately USD 330 million at December 31, 2002. These estimates are based on assumptions and judgments that the
Zurich Insurance Group believes are reasonable.

The Zurich Insurance Group has reported these transactions to appropriate regulatory bodies and is cooperating with all regulatory inquiries.
In addition, the Zurich Insurance Group has strengthened processes in order to address the accounting for and reporting of reinsurance
arrangements appropriately on an ongoing basis.

10.
lat?‘lfilrg ?ife policyholders’ benefits and policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds (gross of reinsurance)
in USD milligns, as of December 31 2004 2003
Future life policyholders’ benefits
Long-duration contracts 70,636 68,422
Short-duration centracis 101 92
Total ' 70,737 68,514
Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds
Annuities 1,925 1,861
Universal life and other investment contracts 7,541 7,572
Policyholder dividends 8,389 6,089
Total 17,855 16,422

Long-duraticn contract liabilities included in future life policyholders’ benefits result primarily from traditional participating and non-

participating life insurance products. Short-duration contract liahilities are primarily accident and heaith insurance products. The liability for

future life policyholder benefits has been established based upon the foltowing:

* Interest rates which vary by territory, year of issuance and product

* Mortality rates based on published mortality tables adjusted for actual experience by geographic area and modified tc allow for
variations in policy form :

* Surrender rates based upon actual experience by geographic area and maodified to allow for variations in palicy form.

Zurich Insurance Group - Annual Report 2004 29




Consolidated Financial Statements

The amount of policyholder dividends to be paid is determinad annually by each Zurich Insurance Group life insurance company. Policyholder
dividends include life policyholders’ share of net income and unrealized appreciation of investments that are required to be allocated by

the insurance contract or by focal insurance regulations. Experience adjustments refating to future policyhoiders’ benefits and poficyhoiders’
contract deposits vary according to the type of contract and the territory. Investment, mortality and morbidity results may be passed through
by experience credits or as an adjustment 1o the premium mechanism, subject to local regulatory provisions.

In Switzerland, the “legal quote” legistation was adopted on April 1, 2004. it relates to the regulated pension business in Switzerland
and provides for mandatory participation in profits by policyholders. A minimum dividend rate of 90% of the calculated gross surplus must
be allocated to policyholders as the surplus arises, where previously such allocations occurred when bonuses were declared.

The Zurich Insurance Group accounted for the initial application of this legislation in the consolidated financial statements as of

June 30, 2G04, by transferring net unrealized gains on investments included in shareholders’ equity of USD 226 million to insurance reserves
as “Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds”. In addition, the Zurich Insurance Group recorded a pre-tax charge of USD 54 million
related to this change.

Guarantees arising from minimum death benefits ("GMDB"), retirement income benefits {“GRIB")

and annuitization options {("GAO")

The Zurich Insurance Group sells products for which policyholders bear the full investment risk associated with the underlying invested funds
selected by them. Certain of these products contain guarantees for which liabilities have been recorded for additional benefits and minimum
guarantees, primarily in the subsidiary Kemper investors Life Insurance Company which has written variable annuity contracts that provide
annuitants with certain guarantees related to minimum death and income benefits. The determination of these habilities is based on models
that involve a range of scenarios and assumptions, including those regarding expected market rates of return and volatility, contract surrender
rates, annuitization elections and mortality experience, The assumptions used are consistent with those used in determining estimated gross
profits for purposes of amortizing deferred policy acquisition costs.

The Zurich Insurance Group recorded provisions for certain guarantee features embedded in certain life insurance products for the first time
as explained in note 3 on the implementation of SOP 03-01.

Table 10.4
Information on guarantee liabilities arising from minimum death benefits (*GMDB"),
retirement income benefits (“GRIB") as well as annuitization options ("GAQ™)

in USD millions (except average age) 2004 2003

Account balance for products with guarantee features as of December 31

Gross 4,074 3,757

Ceded (554) (537)
Net 3,520 3,220
Amount at risk as of December 31 2004 2003

Gross 735 740
Ceded (284) 277)
Net 451 463

Average attained age of policyholders {in years) 61 61

The Zurich Insurance Group's exposure after reinsurance recoveries under these policies at the balance sheet date as of Decernber 31, 2004
would be USD 45T million (USD 463 million as of December 31, 2003}, The Zurich Insurance Group believes the crystallization of such liability
is not likely,

Development of net liability recorded for additional benefits 2004 2003
Balance as of January 1 (opening balance) : 53 32
Benefits incurred 30 27
Benefits paid (5) (6)
Balance as of December 31 (closing bafance) 78 53

30 Zurich Insurance Group - Annual Report 2004




11. Income taxes

Table 11.1

Income tax expense

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003
Current : 598 312
Defarred {345) 526
Total income tax expense 253 838
Table 11.2

Expected and actual income tax expense

in USD millions, for the years ended Decernber 31 2004 2003
Expected income tax expense 445 582

ncrease/(reduction} in taxes resulting from:

Non-taxable income (304) (292)
Non-deductible expenses 75 81

Withholding, state and locai taxes 18 (38
Non-utilizable tax losses 7 509

Other 12 &)
Actual income tax expense 253 838

The table above illustrates the factors that cause the actual income tax expense to differ from the expecied amount computed by applying
the expected rate.

The expected weighted avarage tax rate for the Zurich insurance Group was 26.8% and 30.5% for the years 2004 and 2003, respectively.
These rates were derived by obtaining a weighted average of the applicable statutory income tax rate in relation to the operating
income/loss generated in the taxable territories in which the Zurich Insurance Group operates.

Teble 11.3
Deferred income taxes ;
in USE millions, as of December 31 . 2004 2003 :
Deferred tax assets :
Reserves for losses and loss adiustment expenses 576 755
Reserves for unearned premiums 366 380 :
Accruals not currently deductible 106 106
Unrealized losses on investments - 91
Depreciable and amortizable assets 170 83
Life policy reserves 129 132 H
Loss carryforwards 1,550 892 {
Other 833 798 2
Deferred tax assets, gross 3,730 3,237
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets {345) (351) '
" Deferred tax assets, net of valuaticn allowance . 3,385 2,886 E
Deferred tax liabilities
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses (648} {493)
Deferred policy acquisition costs . (529} {391) :
Unrealized gains on investments (394) (352)
Depreciable and amortizable assets (689) (704)
Life policy reserves {135) (70)
Other 801) (885) ;
Deferred tax liabilities (3,196) (2,895} %
Net deferred tax assets/{liabilities) 189 (9)

The current income tax payable {net of income tax receivable) as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 was USD 688 million and
USD 387 million, respectively.
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As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, the Zurich Insurance Group had income tax loss carryforwards of USD 4,485 million and
UsD 2,908 million available {(subject to various statutory restrictions) for use against future taxable income. Deferred tax assets for loss
carryforwards of USD 2,950 million and USD 1,876 million were recognized as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. No deferred tax
assets were recognized in respect of the remaining Y50 1,535 million and USD 1,032 miflion as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The majority of the income tax loss carryforwards expire after five years.

The Zurich Insurance Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded in the tax paying entities throughout the world, which may
include several legal entities within each tax jurisdiction. Legal entities are grouped into a single taxpayer only when permitted by local
legislation and when deemed appropriate,

The recoverability of the deferred tax asset of each taxpayer is based on its ability o utilize the deferred tax asset over a reasonable period
of time, This analysis considers the projected taxable income to be generated by the taxpayer, as well as the ability to offset deferred tax
assets with deferred tax liabilities. As of Decamber 31, 2004, the following taxpayer groups carry a net deferred tax asset position on their
halance sheets,

- Deferred tax assets,

: Table 1.4 net of valuation

5 Deferred tax assets by taxpayer group Gross deferred allowance and

j in USD miilions, as of December 31, 2004 tax assets other tax liabilities

it Taxpayer groups

q Narth America Corporate group of companies 1,444 1,250
Centre group of companies . 555 132
Zurich Capital Markets companies 337 -
UK General Insurance companies 233 155
Other 204 87

The North Arrerica Corporate group of companies has reported tax losses in three of the last four years, thus creating a significant net
operating ioss carryforward of approximately USO 2,280 mitlion, which is utilizable over a 15 year period. In addition, revenue streams
originated by the North America Corporate group of companies also support the recoverability of the Centre group of companies’ deferred
tax asset. Based on the current taxable income projections for the North America Corporate group of companies and the other taxpayer
groups noted above, management believes that the carrying values of the deferred tax assets as of Decernber 31, 2004 are fully recoverable.

12. Receivables

Table 12

Receivables .

in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003
Receivables from policyholders 2,943 2,546
Receivables from insurance companies, agents, brokers and intermediaries 4,891 5,775
Other receivables 3,985 3,023
Allowance for uncollectible amounts (253) (333)
Total 11,566 11,011

13. Reinsurance assets

Table 13

Reinsurance assets

in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Reinsurers’ share of insurance reserves : 20,590 20,460
Receivable arising from ceded reinsurance 1,831 1,982

Allowance for uncollectible amournits (373) 371
Total reinsurance assets 22,048 22,071

Ceded reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Zurich Insurance Group from its direct obligations to its palicyholders. Thus, a credit
exposure exists with respect to reinsurance ceded to the extent that any reinsurer is unable to meet the obligations assumed under the
reinsurance agreements. The Zurich Insurance Group holds substantial collateral as security under related reinsurance agreements in the
form of depasits, securities and/or letters of credit.

The life insurance operations limit exposure to loss on any single life policy. Retention limits vary by territory and product line. Approximately
3.5% and 5.4% of gross written premiums and policy fees were ceded as of ecember 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, for life operations,
and 20.3% and 24.0% for general insurance operations as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Net insurance reserves were USD 140,850 million and USD 130,073 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, after deducting
the amount of reinsurance ceded 10 reinsurers.
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14. Deferred policy acquisition casts

The fire insurance value of the Zurich Insurance Group’s own-use real estate, investment real estate and further fixed assets totaled

Table 14 General . Life Other v
Deferred policy acquisition costs Insurance Insurance segments’ Total . v
in USD miliions 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 &
As of January 1 (opening balance) 2,022 1,838 2,839 3,064 135 180 4,996 5,082 ‘
Acquisition costs deferred and transfers 2,115 2,040 877 660 6 2,993 2,706 ;
Amortization charged 1o income {2,017) (1,829) (274) (393) (42) (87) (2,333) (2,309) ;.
Amortization charged to shareholders’ equity - - (85) (29} 4 9 (81) (20) "
Divestments (14) (1 (73) __ (690) () - (88)  (691) i
Increase/ (decrease) due to currency translation 105 (26} 169 227 (13) 27 261 228 E\
As of December 31 (closing balance} 221 2,022 3,453 2,839 135 5,748 4,996 %
Vincluding eliminations of intersegment transactions. 3
15. Fixed assets

Table 15

Fixed assets

in SO millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Land held for own use 424 438

Buildings held for own use 1,496 1,581

Furniture and fixtures 330 360

Computer equipment 462 542

Other fixed assets 482 474

Total cost before depreciation 3,194 3,395

Less: accumnulated depredciation (1.362) (1,452}

Total 1,832 1,943

Activity during the years ended December 31

Carrying value as of January 1 {(opening balance) 1,243 1,802

Additions, capital improvements and transfers 162 206

Disposals and transfers {231) {151} :
Depreciation (189) (267) E
Foreign currency translation effects 127 253 v
Carrying value as of December 31 (closing balance) 1,832 1,943

b
k.

USD 8,956 million and USD 10,505 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

16. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Present vaiue

of profits of Other
Table 16 acquired insurance intangible
Intangible assets Goodwill contracts assets Total
in USD millions 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Carrying value as of January 1 {opening balance} 621 618 390 - 613 421 487 1,432 1,718
Additions and transfers a7 a4 - - 114 82 161 126 ;
Disposals and transfers (30) (58) - (216) (20) 1) {50} (285) :
Armgrtization 77) (81 (27) 70y  {145) (154) (248)  (305)
Foreign currency translation effects 30 98 12 63 (5) 17 37 178 ;
Carrying value as of December 31 (closing balance) 591 621 375 350 365 421 1,331 1,432 ‘k
Accumulated amortization as of December 3t (512) {398) (56} (202) (699) (1,028) (1,267} (1.628) ‘
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17. Debt i
Table 177
Debt
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003
a) Debt related to capital markets and banking activities
Zurich Capital Markets Commercial paper, due in the following year - 2,113
Notes and loans payable, dug in the following year 2,873 2,855
Notes and loans payable, due 2006-2014 726 546
Notes and loans payable, due after 2014 150 150 :
Centre Solutions (Bermuday Ltd. Various debt instrumenis 112 161 ‘
Debt related to capital markets and banking activities 3,861 5,825 i
b) Senior debt . b
Zurich Finance (USA), Inc. 2.75% CHF bond, due July 2066 438 403
3.5% CHF bond, due July 2008 263 242 .
4.5% EUR bond, due September 2014 1,342 -
Zurich International (Bermuda) Lid. Zero coupon CHF exchangeable bond, due July 2004 - 427
BG Investments Limited 5.106% EUR loan, due June 2010 with Zurich Financial Services {Jersey) Ltd. 73 68 .
USD short-term foans with Farmers Group, Inc.s subsidiaries 300 - ;1
Kernper Corporation Various debt instruments, due in 2009 27 27 ;‘
Zurich Holding Company of America, Inc.!  USD long-term loan with Zurich Group Holding, due December 2013 524 - v
Zurich Insurance Company 3.875% CHF bond, due July 2011 830 807
Various borrowings and notes 99 94
Zurich Insurance Company! CHF short-term loan with Zurich Financial Services 89 1,108
CHF short-term loan with Zurich Group Holding 50 182
GBP short-term loan with Allied Zurich p.l.c. - 50
Various short-term loans 5 7
SMM No.2 Ceo. Ltd.! GBP notes, due lune 2007 422 393
ZSLM Trust 2000-A" USD notes, due December 2007 160 160
Mount Evans Funding T LLC, Delaware! USD notes, due December 2031 100 100
Mount Evans Funding 2 LLC, Delaware! USD notes, due December 2031 100 100
Other Various debt instruments 289 289
Senior debt 5,161 4,457 ;
¢) Subordinated debt !
Eagle Star Insurance Company Limited! - GBP short-term loan with Zurich Assurance Limited - 170 '?'f'_:
Zurich Capital Trust| 8.376% USD Capital Securities, due June 2037 1,000 1,000
Zurich Finance (USA), inc. 5.75% EUR bond, due October 2023 668 620
Zurich Insurance Company’ CHF long-term Joan with 2urich Financial Services, due June 2033 3,508 3,229 3
Subordinated debt 5176 5019
Total senior and subordinated debt 10,337 9,476
Total debt 14,198 15,301

! With other subsidiaries of Zurich Financial Services {“intra-group Zurich Financial Services”).

{a} Debt related to capital markets and banking activities

In 2003 a framework agreement was signed with BNP Paribas for the transfer of certain derivative transactions, credit facilities and related

assets by Zurich Capital Markets (*ZCM*”} to BNP Paribas. As of December 31, 2004, these transfers were completed and this contributed
10 a reduction of ZCM's debt compared to December 31, 2003. In March 2004, all Commercial Paper outstanding under ZCM Matched
Funding Corp.s USD 2.5 billion US Commercial Paper Program matured and were fully repaid. As the program was not renewed, there were £
no amounts as of December 31, 2004,

As of December 31,2004, the major part of ZCM’s delbt comprised a number of structured notes, most of which carried floating rate
coupons. The remainder consisted of fixed rate deposits with Zurich Bank.
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(b} Senior debt
The Zurich insurance Group has a Euro Medium Term Note Programme (EMTN Programme) which aflows for the issuance of up to
USD 4 billior: of senior and subordinated notes. Issuing entities under the EMTN Pregramme include Zurich Finance (USA), Inc.

On September 17, 2004, Zurich Finance (USA), inc. issued EUR Y billion of 4.5% notes, due September 2014. The notes were issued under
the EMTN Prograrnme and are guaranteed by Zurich Insurance Company.

The zere coupon CHF 539 million exchangeable bond issued by Zurich International (Bermuda) Ltd. which was exchangeable into
4,800,000 registered shares of UBS AG and guaranteed by Zurich Insurance Company was due and repaid in July 2004, No exchange
options were exercised aver the whole term of the bond issue.

{c) Subordinated debt
On the transfer of the ownership of Eagle Star Insurance Company Limited {“ESI”) to the Zurich Insurance Group in 2004, an intra-Zurich
Financial Services-group loan of GBP 95 miillion between ES| and Zurich Assurance Limited was repaid.

The USD 1,000 million Capital Securities, issued by Zurich Capital Trust 1, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zurich Holding Company of America,
will mature in 2037. The Zurich Insurance Group has the option at any time on or after June 1, 2007 to redeem the securities in whole or in
part at a price of 104.188%, decreasing each year to a price of 100% on June 1, 2017.

The 5.75% EUR 500 million bond, maturing in 2023, is callable in 2013.

In 2003 Zurich Financial Services has granted a CHF 4 billion long-term and deeply subordinated loan to Zurich Insurance Company, the
redermnption of which is directly linked to the borrower’s accumnulation of retained earnings.

Table 17.2

Maturity scheduie of outstanding debt

in USD millicns 2004
2005 3,445
2006 763
2007 1,082
2008 268
after 2008 8,640
Total ’ 14,198
Table 17.3

Interest expense on debt

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003
Debt related to capital markets and banking activities 87 147
Senior debt 217 163
Subordinated debt 257 213
Total 561 523

Loan facilities

On April 21, 2004, a USD 3 billion syndicated revolving credit facility was signed te replace the USD 1.5 billion facility, which was due to

mature on May 28, 2004, The credit facility consists of two equat tranches maturing in 2007 and 2009. Zurich Group Holding, together :

* with Zurich Insurance Company and Farmers Group, Inc. are guarantors of the facility and can draw up to USD1.25 billion, USD 1.5 billion ‘
and USD 250 million, respectively. No borrowings were outstanding as of December 31, 2004, i

Zurich Capital Markets’ USD 1.27 billion syndicated revolving credit facitity which was in place as of December 31, 2003 as a backstop for
the USD 2.5 billion Commercial Paper Program mentioned above, was terminated as per March 12, 2004,
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18. Other liabilities

Table 18

Other liabilities

in USD millions, as of Decembar 31 2004 2003
Amounts due to reinsurers, agents and other insurance companies 3,089 3,150
Amaounts due to life policyholders 256 191
Other payables 3,733 6,080
Tax payables . 1,476 840
Derivative trading liabilities 1,264 2,413
Deferred income and other liabilities 1,620 1,433
Total 11,438 14,107

9. Minority interests

Table 19

Minority interests

in USD miliions, as of December 3t 2004 2003
Preferred securities - 12
Other 553 699
Total 553 711

Minority interests include third-party equity interests, preferred securities and similar instruments issued by consolidated subsidiaries of the
Zurich Insurance Group in connection with providing structured financia! solutions to its customers. ’

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, minority interests in Zurich Capital Markets {"ZCM") totaled USD nil milliors and USD 212 million,
respectively. These minority interests primarily represented third-party equity interests in consolidated alternative investment vehicles arising
from ZCM's managed asset business.

20. Shareholders’ equity

Table 20

Common and treasury stock

number of shares, as of December 31 2004 2003
Contingent and issued common stock, CHF 10 nominal value 86,000,000 86,000,000
Issued comman stock, CHF 10 nominal value 82,500,000 82,500,000
Issued income shares (Genussscheine)? 2 2

Y These income shares confer on their holder the right to receive a dividend if and to the extent the General Meeting decides. However, they do not confer an their holder any voting rights or
rights associated thereto, any rights to subscribe for new shares, or any rights to fiquidation proceeds.

{a) Issued stock
As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, Zurich Insurance Company had 82.5 milfion shares of CHF 10 nominal value common stock issued and
fully paid and twa income shares (Genussscheine) in the name of Zurich Financial Services.

{b) Contingent stock

At the General Meeting of Shareholders on June 11,1997, a contingent capital of CHF 35 million, or 3.5 miilion shares, was created, of which
2.5 million shares can be issued in connection with the granting of conversion and/or option rights and 1 million shares can be issued for the
purpose of employees’ share ownership plans. Nene of the contingent shares have been issued as of December 3%, 2004.

(¢} Dividend restrictions and capital and solvency requirements

Zurich Insurance Company is subject to legal restrictions on the amount of dividends it may pay to its shareholders under the Swiss Code

of Obligations. The Swiss Code of Obligations provides that 5% of the annual profit must be allocated to the general legal reserve untit such
reserve in the aggregate has reached 20% of the paid-in share capital.

Other than by operation of the restrictions mentioned above, the ability of Zurich Insurance Company and its subsidiaries 1o pay dividends
may be restricted or, while dividend payments per se may ke legally permitted, may be indirectly influenced by minimum capital and
solvency reguirements that are imposed by insurance, bank and other regulators in the countries in which the subsidiaries operate as well
as by other limitations existing in certain of these countries (e.g. foreign exchange control restrictions).

Zurich Insurance Company and certain of its subsidiaries are subject to the net capital requirements of their respective regulatory agencies.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, Zurich Insurance Company and its subsidiaries were substantially in compliance with all applicable
requlatory capital adeguacy requirements.
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21. Employee benefits

The Zurich Insurance Group had 42,531 and 44,782 employees (full time equivalents} as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Personnel and other related costs incurred for 2004 and 2003 were USD 3,524 million and USD 3,578 million, respectively.

The Zurich Insurance Group operates a number of active retirement benefit arrangements for pensions. The majority of employees belong
to defined benefit plans. Other employees participate in defined contribution plans providing benefits equal solely to contributions paid plus
investment returns.

The Zurich Insurance Group also operates post-employment plans, which provide employees with certain defined post-employment benefits
other than pensions; the major plans are in the United States.

The summary of the status of the defined benefit plans and other defined post-employment benefits is given below.

(a} Defined benefit plans

Defined benefit pension plans: Employees of the Zurich Insurance Group’s operating companies are covered under various pension

plans. Certain companies run defined benefit ptans, some of which provide benefits related to final pensionable earnings and others provide
cash balance plans, where the participants receive the benefit of annual contributions and a credit for the investment return achieved on
the assets. Eligibility for participation in the various plans is either based on completion of a specified period of continuous service or date of
hire. Benefits are generally based on the employees' years of credited service and average compensation in the years preceding retirement.
Annual funding reguirements are determined based on actuarial cost methods.

Most of the Zurich Insurance Group's defined benefit plans are funded through the Zurich Insurance Group making contributions to trusts
or foundations independent of the Zurich Insurance Group's finances. In these cases, the annual funding requirements are determined

in accordance with local funding and actuarial cost methods. Where plans are not specifically funded, for example, as is usual in the case
of pension plans in Germany, a liability for the accrued pension obligations is recognized in the Zurich Insurance Group's balance sheet.

Other defined post-employment benefits: Certain of the Zurich Insurance Group's operating companies provide a post-employment
benefit program for medical care and life insurance. Eligivility in the various plans is generally based on completing a specified period of
etigible service and reaching a specified age. The programs pay a stated percentage of medical expenses reduced by deductibles and other
coverage. The cost of post-employment benefits is accrued during the empioyees’ service period. The method of accounting and the
frequency of valuations are similar to those for defined benefit pensicn plans.

' Other defined
Table 211 Defined benefit post-employment
Weighted average assumptions used in determining the actuarial liabilities pension plans benefits
as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003
Discount rate 5.0% 5.0% 5.4% 5.6%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 5.7% 57% © 50% 5.8%
Future salary increases 3.6% 3.5% 3.5% 4,1%
Future pension increases 21% 1.7% - -
Increase in long-term health cost - - 9.2% 9.1%
Other defined
Table 21.2 Defined benefit post-employment
Status of funded defined henefit plans - pension plans benefits
in USD millions, as of Decernber 31 2004 2003 2004 2003
" Present vaiue of obligations (8,091) (6,787) (104} (108)
Fair value of plan assets . 6,506 5,711 17 22
Funded status (1,585} {1,076) (87) (86)
Unrecognized net actuarial losses 1,525 1,096 20 27
Asset/(liahility) as of December 31 ’ (60) 20 (67) (59)

The funded status discloses the balance of pension plan assets at current fair values less the pensicn liability at current conditions.
Pensions, hawever, are long-term by nature. Short-term variations between long-term actuarial assumptions and actual experience may
be paositive or negative, i.e. resulting in actuarial gains or losses. In principle, such actuarial gains or losses are not recognized under
1A519 as it is expected that such actuarial gains and losses will equalize over time, Only unrecognized actuarial gains or losses exceeding
certain “corridors” as defined in IAS19 are amortized through the operating statement (see table 21.4 below, “Net actuarial losses
recognized in year”).
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. Other defined
Table 21.3 Defined benefit post-employment
Status of unfunded defined benefit plans pension plans benefits
in USD millions, as of Decernber 31 2004 2003 2004 2003
Present vaiue of obligations . (853) (717) {93) (78)
Unrecognized net actuarial losses ' 45 27 14 13
Unrecognized prior service cost - - (1) (2)
Liability as of December 31 (808) (744) (80) (67)
The summary of the amounts recognized in the consdlidated operating statements is given below.

Other defined

Tahle 21.4 Defined henefit post-employment
Components of net periodic expenses pension plans benefits
in USD millions, for the years ented December 33 2004 2003 2004 2003
Current service cost ) (262) (252) {5 (5)
Interest cost (343) (303) (10) {12}
Expected return on plan assets 290 255 1 1
Net actuarial losses recognized in year (55} (77) (2) (2)
Past service cost (3) (1) - 2)
Gains on curtailment or settlement 17 15 - -
Net periodic pension expense {356} (363) (16} (20)

The actual returns on defined benefit pension plan assets for the years ended Decemnber 31, 2004 and 2003 were USD 377 million and
USD 473 million, respectively, The actual returns on other defined post-employment plan assets were USD nil million and USD 1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The summary of the balance sheet movements in relation to defined benefit plans and other defined post-empioyment benefits is given
below.

Other defined

Table 21.5 Defined benefit post-employment
Summary of balance sheet movements pension plans benefits

in UsD millions 2004 2003 2004 2003
Lizbility as of January 1 {opening balance) (724) (533) (126) (123)
Current year expense (356) (363) (16) {20}
Contributions paid 261 289 1 4
Divestments 8 1 - 13
Foreign currency transtation effects (57) (118) (6) -
Liability in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 {closing batance) (368) (724) (147} (126}

{b) Defined contribution pension plans

Certain of the Zurich Insurance Group's operating companies sponsor various defined contribution plans. Eligibility for participation in
the various plans is either based on completion of a specified period of continuous service or date of hire. The plans provide for voluntary
contributions by employees and contributions by employer which typically range from &% to 13% of annual salaries, depending on the
employees’ years of service. The Zurich Insurance Group's contributions under these plans amounted to USD 13 million and US9 12 million
in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

22. Share-based compensation and cash incentive plans

Employees of the Zurich Insurance Group participate in various share compensation and incentive plans sponsored by Zurich Financial
Services. Zurich Financial Services allocates the costs arising from these plans to its subsidiaries, including those in the Zurich Insurance
Group. For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 total costs charged to the operating statements were USD 209 million and
UsD 183 million, respectively {of which share and option based compensation USD 45 million and USD 46 million, respectively).

(a) Share-based compensation plans for employees
The Zurich Insurance Group encourages employees to own shares of Zurich Financial Services and has set up a framewaork based on the

implementation of either share options and/or performance share programs. Actual plans are tailored to meet local market requirements.

The explanations below give a more detailed overview of the plans of the Zurich Insurance Group.
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Share aption plans for UK employees

UK Sharesave Plan: The plan is open to employees in the United Kingdom. Participants enter into a savings contract with 2 bank for the
accumulation of contributions of between GBP 5 and GBP 250 per month for a period of three or five years. An interest bonus is credited
at the end of the savings period. Participants are granted options to acquire Zurich Financial Services shares at a pre-determined price,
which is not less than 80% of the market price prior to grant. Options under the plan can normally be exercised for a period of six months
after the end of the savings period. Early exercise, limited 10 the value of shares that can be acquired with accrued savings, is permitted

in certain circumstances.

Employee share plans

Share Incentive Plan for employees in the UK: In june 2003, the Zurich Insurance Group established an Inland Revenue approved Share
Incentive Plan and launched the parinership shares element of this plan. This plan enabled participating employees to make monthly
purchases of Zurich Financial Services shares at the ruling market price out of their gross earnings. The Zurich Insurance Group also launched
reward shares, the profit-sharing element of the Share Incentive Plan in March 2004 with share allocations being made in May 2004. The
awards were based on the performance of the participating employee’s business units for the year, subject to 2 maximurn award of 5% of
participant’s base salary (before any flexible benefit adjustments) or GBP 3,000.

Share Incentive Plans for employees in Switzerland: In 2004, a new Employee Incentive Plan was intraduced for employeas in
Switzerland that combined the features of the annual cash-based incentive plan and the previous employee performance share plian.
Under this new plan employees who receive an incentive payment under the Employee Incentive Plan have the option to acquire
sales-restricted shares at a 30% discount on the market value, with the maximum value of the discount being CHF 1,500.

{h) Share based compensation plans for executives

The Zurich Insurance Group operates long-term incentive pians for selected executives. These plans comprise the allocation of a target
number of share options grants and/or shares grants with the vesting of these option/share grants being subject to the achievement of
specific financial performance goals. The Zurich Insurance Group can also make Restricted Share grants to selected employees, which provide
share awards if the individual rermains employed with the Zurich Insurance Group on selected dates in the future.

Senior executive Zurich Financial Services Group long-term incentive pfans

Senior Executives are granted annually perfermance options and performance shares which vest on an annual basis over the subsequent
three year period. The actual level of vesting, which can be between 0% and 150% of the original number granted, depends on the
performance of the Zurich Financial Services Group during the previous calendar year, The current performance metrics are the Zurich
Financial Services Group's return on equity (ROE) and the positioning of the Zurich Financiat Services Group’s total shareholder return against
an international peer group of insurance comparies. One-half of the shares that actually vest are sales-restricted/deferred for a further period
of three years. The options have a seven-year ferm from the date of grant. Grants under the plan are made annually on April 3. The actual
number of performance options and performance shares granted is determined such that the economic value is a defined percentage of the
annual salary in the year of allocation.

Executive long-term performance share plans

Selected executives are granted annually performance shares which vest over a period of three years, either on an annual basis or at the end
of the three-year period. Specific performance parameters are established for each of the business divisions and include, for example, return
on equity or business operating profit objectives. The actual number of performance shares granted at the beginning of the performance
period is determined such that the economic value is defined percentage of the annual salary in the year of allocation. Actual awards under
these plans are made fully in shares of Zurich Financial Services, of which 50% are sales-restricted/deferred for a further periad of three years.

{c) Additional information

. The shares and opticns granted during the period are the target allocations made under the performance option and the performance
share plans together with any restricted share awards granted during the year. Whether these grants become vested or not will depend
upan whether the performance achievements are met and the expense is then adjusted accordingly.

The fair value of the options granted to senior executives is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, with the following
assumptions. . :

Table 22

Black-Scholes assumptions 2004 2003
Share price CHF 213.25  CHF 120.50
Exercise price CHF 213.25 CHF 120.50
Implied volatility 31.75% 41.00%
Risk-free interest rate 2.47% 2.34%
Expected dividend rate 1.50% 1.50%
Contracted option life 7 yeats 7 years

The risk-free interest rate was determined by using the seven year CHF swap rate for 2004 and 2003, respectively. The fair value of any other
share options granted during the year has been determined using the same methodology.

More details regarding these plans are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 2004 of Zurich Financial
Services Group.
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23. Related party transactions

The Zurich Insurance Group is contrelled by Zurich Group Holding which in turn is controlled by Zurich Financial Services, the ultimate
parent holding company of the Zurich Insurance Group, all of which are incorporated in Switzerland. In the normal course of business,
the Zurich Insurance Group enters intc various transactions with related companies, inciuding various reinsurance and cost-sharing
arrangements, These transactions are not considered material to the Zurich Insurance Group, either individually or in the aggregate. In
addition, income generated by associate entities which function as investment vehicles of the Zurich Insurance Group is shown in the
table below as net investment income. Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operaticnal decisions. the table below sets forth related party transactions reflected
in the consolidated balance sheets and consalidated operating statements.

Table 23

Related party transactions )

in USD millions 2004 2003
Consolidated operating statements for the years ended December 31

Net earned premiums and pclicy fees 7 H
Net investment income 105 100
Other income/(axpense) (9} 12
Losses and loss adjustment expenses (11) {7
Consolidated balance sheets as of December 31

Policyholders’ collateral and other loans 23 32
Reinsurance assets 1 4
Other receivables 2 "
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses {4) (4}

For debt from other subsidiaries of Zurich Financial Services (“intra-group Zurich Financial Services”) please refer to note 17.

No outstanding loans or guarantees were granted to directors of Zurich Insurance Company for either of the years ended December 31, 2004
and 2003, respectively. The term “directors” in this context includes the individual as well as members of their respective households.
Remuneration paid to the members of the Board of Directors of Zurich Insurance Company in 2004 and 2003 was USD 0.7 million and

USD 0.5 million, respectively.

24. Commitments and contingencies

The Zurich Insurance Group has provided guarantees or commitmenits to external parties, associates, partnerships and joint ventures. These
arrangements include commitments under certain conditions to make liguidity advances to cover delinquent principal and interest payments,
make capital contributions or provide equity financing.

Table 24.1

Quantifiable commitments and contingencies

in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003

Commitrnents under investment agreements 3,394 3,500

Less funded 2,743y (2,347)
Remaining commitments under investment agreements 751 1,153

Guarantees, surety bonds, letters of credit 3,896 3,424

Future rent commitments ) 1,275 1,295

Undrawn loan commitments (capital markets and banking activities) 236 1,296

Other commitments and cantingent liabilities 271 1,081

Guarantee features embedded in life insurance products are not included, For such guarantee features refer to note 10, insurance reserves.

Coimmitments under investment agreements

The Zurich Insurance Group has committed to contribute capital to subsidiaries, associates and third parties that engage in making
investments in direct private equity, private equity funds, emerging market funds and hedge funds. Included in the remaining commitments
is USD 473 million to Capital Z Investments ll, L.P and USD 167 million to Capital Z Investrnents, L.P. Part of these cornmitments may be
called at any time and in any amount, based on various criteria. The remaining commitments also include a minimum allocation for hedge
fund investments.

Guarantees, surety bonds, letters of credit
The Zurich Insurance Group knows of no event of default that would require it to satisfy guarantees. Irrevocable letters of credit and surety
bonds were issued to secure certain reinsurance contracts.
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Future rent commitments
The Zurich Insurance Group has entered inta various operating leases as lessee for office space and certain computer and other equipment.
Rent expenses for these items totaled USD 136 million and USD 143 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Table 24.2

F?th:re payments under nan-cancellable operating leases with terms in excess of one year Rental
in USD millions payments
2005 157
2006 138
2007 127
2008 119
2009 108
2G10 and thereafter 626
Total 1,275

The Zurich Insurance Group also leases its real estate held for investment to outside parties under operating leases.

Indemnity agreements

The Zurich Insurance Group, through certain of its subsidiaries, has agreed o arrangements that cap Converium’s net exposure for losses
arising out of the September 11, 2001 event at USD 289 million. Additionally, the Zurich insurance Group has provided Converium with
coverage for net losses in excess of USD 59 millian, including non-performance of the retrocessionaire, related to Amerisafe business ceded
to the Unicover pool. As of December 31, 2004, the Zurich insurance Group has recorded provisions in respect of both arrangements of
VSD 162 million and USD 13 million, respectively.

Pledged assets
Total assets pledged including securities pledged in respect of securities repurchase agreements amounted to USD 1,725 million and
USD 1,793 miillion as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. Assets pledged were financial assets.

Other contingent liabilities

The Zurich Insurance Group has received notices from various tax authorities asserting deficiencies in taxes. for various years, The Zurich
Insurance Group believes that it has meritorious legal defenses 1o those claims and befieves that the ultimate outcome of the cases will not
result in a material impact on the Zurich Insurance Group’s consolidated results of operation or financial position.

In 2003, the Zurich Insurance Group completed the divestments of various asset management operations. As part of these agreements,
the Zurich Insurance Group has guaranteed certain minimum levels of “assets under management” to the acquirers. The guarantees
provide that if the “assets under management” fall below those defined levels under certain conditions, the Zurich Insurance Group
may be required to compensate for these shortfalls. The compensation is limited to the considerations received and the Zurich Insurance
Group does not believe any such compensation to be probable.

Litigation

The Zurich Insurance Group and its subsidiaries are continuously involved in legal proceedings, cfaims and litigation arising, for the most
part, in the ordinary course of its business operations. The Zurich Insurance Group and its subsidiaries are also involved in a number of
regulatory investigations. These investigations involve certain business practices between insurance brokers and insurance companies, the
purchase and sale of “non-traditional” products, certain reinsurance transactions engaged in by the Zurich Insurance Group and its
subsidiaries and other matters. The Zurich Insurance Group has been conducting its own internal reviews with respect to these matters
and is cooperating fully in these investigations. :

The outcome of such current legal proceedings, claims, litigation and investigations could have a material effect on operating results
and/or cash flows when resolved in a future period. However, in the opinion of management these matters would not materially affect
the Zurich Insurance Group’s consolidated financial position.
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25. Segment information

Table 25.1

Operating statements by business segment General Insurance Life Insurance

in USD millicns, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003

Revenues ‘

Direct writter: premiums and policy fees 32,419 30,508 8,097 9,433

Assumed written pramiums 4,196 4,727 91 50

Gross written premiums and policy fees 36,615 35,235 8,188 9,483

Less premiums ceded to reinsurers (7,433) (8,440) (283) (510

Net written premiums and policy fees 29,182 26,795 7,905 8,973

Net change in reserves for unearned premiums (103) (648) 3 35
- Net earned premiums and policy fees 29,079 26,147 7,908 3,008
i Management fees - - 17 215
L Net investment income 2,359 1,892 2,937 3,189
£ Net capital gains on investments and impairments 82 281 201 {229}
i Net gain/{loss) on divestments of businesses {34) (89) 33 314
[ Other income 518 450 533 589
! Total revenues 32,004 28,681 11,629 13,086
Intersegment transactions (408} (303} (247} 43

Benefits, losses and expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance 22,716 18,988 38 96
_l Life insurance death and other benefits, net of reinsurance 118 206 10,526 7,923
(Decrease)/increase in future life policyholders' benefits, net of reinsurance 9 8 {2,158) 1,478
Insurance benefits and losses, net of reinsurance 22,843 19,202 8,456 9,497
Policyholder dividends and participation in profits, net of reinsurance 9 1 - 800 188
Underwriting and policy acquisition costs, net of reinsurance 5,010 4,425 651 709
Administrative and other operating expenses 2,533 2,370 611 965
Amortization of intangible assets : 103 100 126 136
Interest expense on debt 138 187 7 8
interest credited to policyholders and other interest 150 118 457 633
Total benefits, losses and expenses 30,786 26,413 11,108 12,136
Net income/(ioss) before income taxes and minority interests 1,218 2,268 521 550
Net income/(loss) 1,242 1,707 384 724

Suppiementary segment information

Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid, net 16,153 14,782 92 93

Purchases of fixed and intangible assets (81) {159) (M17) 77

Significant non-cash expenses:

Depreciation and impairments of fixed assets 29 169 32 5%

Amaortization and impairments of intangible assets 103 100 126 136
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Other Businesses Corporate Center Eliminations Total
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2002
452 224 16 32 19 22 41,003 40,219
906 1,475 661 570 (1,358) {1,371) 4,496 5,451
1,358 1,699 677 602 (1,339) (1,349) 45,499 45,670
(183) (202) {655) (578) 1,339 1,349 {7.215) (8,381)
1,175 1,497 22 24 - - 38,284 37,289
159 62 1 (7) - - 60 (558)
1,334 1,559 23 17 - - 38,344 36,731
3 10 11 3 (7) (9) 24 224
688 822 554 495 (694) (605} 5,844 5,793
206 342 124 102 - - 613 496
32 13 52 - - - 83 238
235 253 693 353 (511) (238) 1.468 1,405
2,498 2,999 1,457 973 (1,212) {852} 46,376 44,887
(383) {444} (174) (148) 1,212 852 - -
138 1,341 30 213 (34) (119} 22,938 20,519
722 597 28 41 8 ap 11,402 8,857
70 133 (23) (72) 5 5 (2,097) 1,552
930 2,071 35 182 {21) (24) 32,243 30,928
251 348 - (175} - - 1,060 372
514 458 7 1 - - 6,182 5,593
366 631 723 568 (481) (207) 3,752 4,327
12 15 g 34 - - 249 305
135 157 814 673 (533) (502) 561 523
203 272 33 27 {177) {119) 666 931
2411 3,952 1,620 1,330 (1.212) (852) 44,713 42,979
87 (953) (163) (357) - - 1,663 1,908
49 (1,067) (354) (381) - - 1,321 983
818 1,276 (2) 80 {31) (118) 17,030 16,113
4) (16) (121) (80} - - {323} (332)
11 28 27 1" - - 169 267
12 15 8 54 - - 249 305
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Table 25.2
Assets and liabilities by business segment

General Insurance

tife Insurance

in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 003
Total investments 65,702 55,231 78,140 75,440
Total assets after consclidation of investments in subsidiaries 99,196 88,537 100,336 96,387
Insurance reserves, gross 68,042 58,758 79,673 75,813
Total liabilities 89,830 80,647 96,408 92,533
Supplementary segment information

Insurance reserves, net 52,828 43,240 79,337 75,453
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Other Businesses Corporate Center Eliminations Total
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
17,253 19,917 16,937 15,248 {21,715) (18,847) 156,317 146,989
44,263 49,257 19,683 17,850 (24,899) (24,161) 238,579 227,870
14,236 17,855 1.391 1,504 {1,902) (3,437) 161,440 150,533
42,126 47,893 25,644 22,829 (24,899) (24,161} 229,109 219,741
7,985 10,652 753 805 (53) {77 140,850 130,073
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Gross written premiums

and policy fees Revenues
Table 25.3 for the years ended for the years ended Assets
Premiums, revenues and assets by geographical segment December 31 December 31 as of December 31
in USD millions 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
North America Corporate ' 15,709 15,476 11,530 10,001 43,589 36,549
North America Consumer 2,512 3,060 2,460 2,975 2,640 2,467
Continental Eurcpe 18,278 18,214 20,847 20,393 120,986 113,355
United Kingdom 6,171 6,114 5,976 5,720 20,245 19,453
Rest of the World 2,766 2,774 2,283 2,053 9,475 9,193
Centrally Managed Businesses 2,508 3,078 3,948 4,130 57,184 60,862
Eliminations (2,445)  (3,046) {668) (385) (15,540) {14,009)
Total 45,499 45,670 46,376 44 887 238,579 227,870
Table 25.4
Purchases of fixed and intangible assets by geographical segment Fixed assets Intangible assets
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003
North America Corporate 10 47 44 22
North America Consumer - 3 - -
Continental Europe 25 66 83 50
United Kingdom 17 38 - -
Rest of the World : 13 5 1 3
Centrally Managed Businesses a7 47 23 51
Total 162 206 161 126

26. Subsequent events

On Aprit 4, 2005, Zurich Financial Services Group announced the signing of a stock purchase agreement for the sale of the whally owned
Universal Underwriters Group to an investor group led by Hellman & Friedman LLC. The transaction is valued at approximately USD 1.1 billion
and expected 1o close in the third quarter of 2005, subject to regulztory approval. Universal Underwriters Group was part of the Zurich
Insurance Group.

A6 Zurich Insurance Group - Annual Report 2004




Consolidated Financial Staterments

Significant subsidiaries
a5 of December 31, 2004

Voting Ownership

Book value of
Common stock

rights interest {in local
Domicile Segment’ % % currency millions)
Australia
Zurich Awstralia Ltd. Sydney Life insurance 100.00 10000 AUD 10,0
Zurich Australian Insurance Lirnited Sydney General Insurance  100.00  100.00 AUD 971
Austria
Zirich Versicherungs-Aktiengesellschaft Vienna General Insurance 99.98 9998 EUR 12.0
Bermuda
B G Investments Limited Hamilton ' Corporate Center  100.00 100,00 USD 0.3
Cayley Aviation Lid. Hamilton Corporate Center 100,00 10000  USD 0.01
Centre Group Holdings Limited Hamilton Other Businesses ~ 100.00 10000  USD 0.3
Cenire Reinsurance Services (Bermuda) IV Limited Hamilton Corporate Center  100.00 100.00  USD 0.0%
CMSH Limited Hamilton Caorporate Center  100.00  100.00 usb 0.3
Lanner Re Limited Hamilton Corporate Center 10.00 10000 USD 144 .4
ZCM Holdings {Bermuda) Limited Hamiltan Other Businesses 100.00 100.00 UsD 158.9
ZG Investments Ltd, Hamilton Corporate Center 100,00 100.060 USD 0.01
ZG Investments Il Ltd. Hamilton Corporate Center  100.00 100,00  USD 0.01
ZG Invastments Il Ltd. Hamilton Corporate Center  100.00  100.00  USD .01
ZG Investments IV Ltd. Hamilton Corporate Center  100.00 100.00 USD 0.01
Zurich Asia Holdings Ltd. Hamilton Life Insurance 90.00 90.00 USD 211
Zurich Finance (Bermuda) Ltd. Hamilton Corporate Center  100.00 100,00 USD 0.01
Zurich International (Bermuda) Ltd. Hamilton Corporate Center 10000  100.00  USD 9.9
Canada
Nova Scotia Company Halifax General Insurance 100.00 100.00 CAD 95.0
Zurich Canadian Holdings Limited Toronto General Insurance 100.0C 100,00 CAD 130.3
Chile
Chilena Consotidada $eguros de Vida S.A. Santiago Life insurance 98.95 9895 CLP 24,4840
inversiones Suizo Chilena S.A. Santiago Life Insurance 100,00 100.00 CLP 20,1935
fFrance
Zurich International {France) Cie d*Assurances S.A. Levallois-Perret General Insurance 99.99 9999 EUR 20.2
Germany '
BONNDATA Gesellschaft fir Datenverarbeitung miH Bonn Life Insurance 76.83 76.83 EUR 3.2
Bonnfinanz Aktiengesellschaft
flr Vermbgensberatung und Vermittlung Bonn Life Insurance 76.83 76.83  EUR 0.6
BONNSECUR GmbH & Co. Liegenschaften
~ Deutscher Herold KG Bonn Life Insurance 76.83 76.83 EUR 170.0
DA Deutsche Allgemeine Versicherung AG Cherursel General Insurance  100.00  100.00  EUR 24.5
Deutscher Herold Aktiengesellschaft Bonn Life Insurance 76.83 76.83  EUR 18.4
Deutscher Herold Allgemeine Versicherungs AG Bonn General Insurance  76.83 76.83  EUR 20.5
Deutscher Herold Lebensversicherungs AG Bonn Life Insurance 76.83 76.83 EUR 46.2
Patria Versicherung Aktiengesellschaft Cologne General Insurance 100.00  100.00  EUR 6.6
Zurich Beteiligungs-Aktiengesellschaft (Deutschland) Frankfurt/Main General Insurance 10000 100.00  EUR 152.9
ZUrich Lebensversicherung AG (Deutschland) Frankfurt/Main Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 13.4
Zurich Versicherung AG (Deutschland) Frankfurt/Main General Insyrance  100.00  100.00 EUR 106.5
Zirich Vertriebs GmbH Bonn Life Insurance 76.83 76.83  EUR 1.0
Ireland
Orange Stone Holdings Dublin Other Businesses ~ 100.00  100.00  USD 1,609.3
Orange Stone Reinsurance Dublin Corporate Centre  100.00  100.00  USD 1,663.0
Italy
Erbasei S.p.A. Milan General Insurance 100.00  100.00  EUR 40.0
Zurich International (ltalia) S.p. A. Milan General insurance 100.00  100.00  EUR 386
Zurich Investments Life S.p.A. Milan Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 34.0
Zurich Life Insurance Italia 5.p. A. Milan Life Insurance 100.00  100.00 EUR 25.9

! The segments are defined in the Motes to the consolidated financial staterments, note 1, basis of presentation.
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Book value of

Voting Ownership cammon stock
rights interest {in local
Dormicile Segment! % % currency millions)
Mexico
Zurich, Compadia de Seguros, S.A. Mexico © Qeneral Insurance  99.88 9388 MXN 2722
Morocco
Zurich Compagnie Marocaine d'Assurances Casablanca General Insurance  98.74 9874 MAD 90.0
Portugal
Zurich, Companhia de Seguros, 5.A. Lisbon General Insurance  100.00  100.00 EUR 10.0
Zurich, Companhia de Segures Vida, S.A. Lishon Life insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 20.7
South Africa
SA Fire House Limited Bryanston General Insurance 100,00  100.00 ZAR  0.0006
South African Eagle nsurance Company Limited Bryanston General Insurance  83.61 8361 ZAR 3.0
Spain
Zurich Espana, Compafifa de Seguros y Reaseguros, 5.A.  Barcelona General insurance  99.78 99.78 EUR 33.6
Zurich Vida, Companiia de Seguros y Reaseguros, 5.A. Madrid Life Insurance 64.67 64.67 EUR 50.4
Switzerland
Assuricum Company Limited Zug Corporate Center  100.00  100.00  CHF 610.0
La Genevoise, Compagnie d’Assurances sur |z Vie Geneva Life Insurance 100,00 100.00 CHF 17.0
«Ziirich» Finanz-Gesellschaft AG Zug Corporate Center  100.00 100.00 CHF 0.2
Zurich Life Insurance Company Limited Zurich Corporate Center  100.00 100.00  CHF 60.0
Taiwan
Zurich Insurance (Taiwan) Ltd. Taipei General Insurance  91.68 91.68 TwD 2,000.0
United Kingdom
Claims Management Group Limited London, England Corporate Center 100,00 100.00  GBP 35
Eagle Star Insurance Company Limited Fareham, England General Insurance 100.00  100.00  GBP 591.7
ZPC {Construction) Company Limited Fareham, England General Insurance  100.00  100.0¢  GBP 54.0
Zurich Holdings (UK} Limited Fareham, England Corporate Center 10000 100.00  GBP 87.1
Zurich International (UK) Limited Fareham, England General Insurance  100.00 100.00  GBP 40.0
Zurich Invest {Jersey) Ltd. Jersey, Channel Islands General Insurance  100.00 100.00  GBP 0.1
Zurich Specialties London Limited ) “London, England General Insurance 100,00 100.00  GBP 150.0
Zurich Whiteley investment Trust Lirnited Fareham, England Other Businesses ~ 100.00 100.00  GBP 10.2
United States of America
Centre Reinsurance Holdings (Delaware) Limited Wilmington, DE Other Businesses 106.00 100.00 usp  0.0196
Crown Management Services Limited Wilmington, DE Corporate Center  100.00  100.00 USD 0.00003
Kemper Corporation Schaumburg, IL Corperate Center  100.00 100.00 USD 220.0
Kemper Investors Life Insurance Company Mercer Island, WA Other Businesses ~ 100.00  100.00 USD 2.5
Universal Underwriters Insurance Company Overland Park, KA General Insurance 10000 100.060  USD 15.0
Universal Underwriters Life Insurance Company Overland Park, KA General Insurance  100.00 100,00  USD 25
ZSFH LiC Dover, DE Corporate Center 100,00 100.00  USD 0.0
Zurich American Insurance Company {and subsidiaries)  Schaumburg, IL General Insurance  106.00 10000  USD 5.0
Zurich Finance (USA), Inc. Schaumburg, 1L Corporate Center  100.00 100.00  USD 0.000001
Zurich Holding Company of America, Inc. Dover, DE Corporate Center  100.00 00,00 USD 0.6
Venezuela
Zurich Segurcs, S.A. Caracas General Insurance  68.79 68.79 VEB  5367.2

! The segments are defined in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements, note 1, basis of presentation.
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Report of the group auditors to the
General Meeting of Zurich Insurance Company, Zurich

As group auditors of the Zurich Insurance Company, we have audited the consolidated financial statements {operating statement,
balance sheet, statement of cash flows, statement of shareholders’ equity and notes on pages 5 to 48) of Zurich Insurance Company for
the year ended December 31, 2004.

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Beard of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional guafification
and independence.

Qur audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards gromulgated by the Swiss profession and with International Standards

on Auditing, which require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated

financial statements are free from material misstatement. We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements, We have alsc assessed the accounting principles used, significant estimates made and the overall
consclidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, the result of operations and the cash
flows in accordance with International Financiai Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated financial staternents submitted to you be approved.
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG
R Marshall W Eriksen-Grundbacher

Zurich, April 18, 2005
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Highlights

Highlights of the year’s business operations

Summary

Gross written
premiums

Net income

Investment income

In 2004, Zurich Insurance Company {"ZIC") continued to streamline its operations by divesting peripheral
businesses and consolidating separate units. The goal of our activities is to improve profitability while increasing
and maintaining service excellence.

Specifically, ZIC completed the sale of both its Life and General Insurance operations in the parsonal and
commercial segments in the Belgium and Luxembourg branch to P&V Assurances (P&V), a Belgian life and
non-life insurer. Zurich continues to be active in Belgium and Luxembourg in the General Insurance
corporate segment, serving its large commercial and corporate customers. This business is operated through
Global Corporate in Europe. In France, ZIC completed the sale of the consumer and commerciat business

to Assicurazioni Generali SpA and the General Insurance corporate business operates also through Global
Corporate in Europe.

In addition, ZIC merged the subsidiaries of Alpina Insurance Company Ltd. and Geneva General Insurance

- Company with its Swiss branch. Alpina was an all-fines insurer that offered overall advice and solutions for

individuals and companies in all regions of Switzerland as well as in Belgium, Israel, Liechtenstein and The
Netherlands. The subsidiary INZIC, whose focus consisted of buying and managing assets, espedally holdings,
was merged with Assuricum AG. The subsidiary Turegum Insurance Company has been sold to Harper

Holding Sarl, a subsidiary of Castlewood Holdings Limited. Turegum’s main business, which was placed in
run-off in 1992, was reinsurance conducted out of the London branch. The transaction allows Zurich to

reduce asbestos and environmental net reserves. Moreover, ZIC has divested its interest in Thai Zurich Insurance
Company in the general insurance business in Thailand to Sri Brothers Co., Ltd and to Pailuck Cao., Ltd.

The Thai Zurich Insurance Company’s name will change to reflect the change in ownership. In January 2004,
ZIC acquired 100% of Eagle Star Insurance Company Limited ("Eagle Star”) from Zurich Financial Services.

The subsidiary Eagle Star is now held by the UK branch.

Our sharp focus on the core insurance business coupled with financial discipline contributed to a doubling of
the annual net income to CHF 1,048 million in 2004 compared with CHF 524 million in 2003. The combined ratio
improved from 101% to 97% in 2004.

Key figure&;'

in CHF milfions 2004 2003
Gross written premiums and policy fees s 23,565 22,835
Net written premiums and policy fees 19,645 18,770
Net earned premiums and policy fees 19,631 18,388
Insurance benefits and losses, net of reinsurance {13,704} (13,570}
Underwriting and policy acquisition ¢osts, net of reinsurance (3.818) (4,064}
Underwriting result, net 614 (510}
Net investment income 2,270 2,125
Net income 1,048 524
Total investments 55,473 50,249
Total insurance reserves, net 32,318 30,690
Total shareholders’ equity (after proposed appropriation of available earnings) 7,322 6,274

Although ZIC divested pants of its General Insurance business in the consumer and commercial segments,
gross written premiums and policy fees in Swiss francs slightly increased by 3% from CHF 22.8 billion in 2003
to CHF 23.6 billion in 2004. In local currency terms, gross written premiums and policy fees grew by 5%.

In 2004, total direct business showed growth of 5% and assumed business decreased by 2%.

The net income improved by CHF 524 million, or 100%, to CHF 1,048 million in 2004 compared to 2003.
Underwriting and policy acguisition costs decreased by 6%, the loss ratio improved by 3 percentage points to
72% in 2004 compared to 75% in the previous year. The expense ratio improved slighty by 1 percentage point
10 25% from 26% in the prior year.

Total insurance reserves, net, grew by 5% from CHF 30.7 billion for 2003 to CHF 32.3 billion for the current year.

Total investment incorne grew by CHF 145 million, or 7%, from CHF 2,125 in 2003 to CHF 2,270 million in 2004.
income from debt securities grew by 19% to CHF 1,400 million. Income generated from equity securities was
CHF 333 million for 2004 and CHF 474 million in the previous year. Dividend income from commeon stocks of
subsidiaries accounts for CHF 202 million of the increase within equity securities.

Realized capital gains decreased by 40% to CHF 979 million in 2004 compared to CHF 1,645 in 2003. On the
other hand, realized capital losses deciined by 51% to CHF 631 million in 2004 compared with CHF 1,289 million
in 2003 and write-downs increased from CHF 155 million in 2003 te CHF 841 million in 2004 mainly due to
adjustments of subsidiaries.

Fereign currency gains amounted to CHF 245 million in 2004 compared to CHF 324 miliion in 2003. The Swiss
franc remained stable compared to the eurc but strengthened against the US dollar.
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Financial Statements — Statutory Accounts

Operating statements
in CHF mitlions, for the years ended 31 December

Notes 2004 2003
Revenues
Gross written premiums and policy fees 23,565 22,835
Less premiums ceded 1o reinsurers . (3,920) (4,065)
Net written premiums and policy fees 19,645 18,770
Net change in reserves for unearned premiums (14) (382)
Net earned premiums and policy fees 19,631 18,388
Net investment income 4 2,270 2,125
Net realized capital gains/(losses) on investments and write-downs 5 {493) 201
Other income 526 191
Total revenues 21,934 20,305
Benefits, losses and expenses
Insurance benefits and losses, net of reinsurance 6 (13,704) (13,570)
Policyholder dividends and participation in profits, net of reirisurance (357) (366)
Undenrwriting and policy acquisition costs, net of reinsurance (3,818) (4,064
Administrative expense (1,138) {898)
Other experse {455) {415)
Interest expense (977) (896)
Total benefits, losses and expenses (20,449) (20,209}
Net income hefore taxes 1,485 696
Taxes {437) (172)
Net income 1,048 524

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance sheeis

in CHF millions, as of 31 December

Assets Notes 2004 2003
Investments

Debt securities 23,556 20,857
Equity securities 1,191 1,267
Investments in subsidiaries and associatas 7 19,964 18,007
Real estate 1,285 1,220
Short-term investments 139 138
Mortgage ioans 650 443
Other investments 965 316
Cash and cash equivalents 7,723 8,001
Total investments 55,473 50,249
Other assets

Receivables from agents and outstanding premiums 2,126 2,211
Receivables from insurance and reinsurance companies 1,826 2,084
QOther receivables 35 529
Deposits made under assumed reinsurance contracts 4,529 4,974
Fixed assets 169 160
tntangible assets 9 625 700
Accrued assets 986 769
Total other assets 10,296 11,437
Total assets 65,769 61,686

The notes 1o the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.

54 Zurich Insurance Company - Annual Report 2004




Financial Statements — Statutory Accounts

Liabilitias and shareholders’ equity Notes 2004 2003
Insurance reserves, net
Reserve for iosses and loss adjustement expenses, net 23,636 21,936
Reserves for unearned premiums, net 5,555 5717
Reserve for premium refunds 3,127 3,037
Total insurance reserves, net 32,318 30,690
Short-term liabilities
Bank overdrafts 2,071 1,956
Prepaid premiums and other creditors 1,535 1,051
Amounts due to reinsurance and other insurance companies 1,408 1,545
Deposits received under ceded reinsurance contracts 4,057 1,940
Other short-term liabiities 9,914 10,749
Accrued liabilities 1,716 1,499
Total short-term fiabilities 20,701 18,740
Long-term liabilities
Bonds 10 1,000 1,000
Subordinated debt 10 4,000 4,000
Provisions 11 428 982
Total long-term liabilities 5,428 5,982
Total liabilities 58447 55412
Shareholders’ equity 12
Common stock (fully paid) 825 825
Income shares 0 0
General legal reserve 485 485
General free reserve 6,372 6,372
Accumulated deficit:

Beginning of year (1,408) (1,932)

Net income 1,048 524
Accumulated deficit, end of year (360) (1,408)
Total sharehoiders’ equity 7,322 6,274
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 65,769 61,686

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Basis of preparation

Zurich Insurance Company {"ZIC") presents its financial statements in accordance with Swiss law. The reporting currency for ZIC is the
Swiiss franc.

2. summary of significant accounting policies

{a) Investments

» Equity securities are carried at the lower of cost or market value, i.e. at acquisition cost or market price if the latter is lower at the end
of the financial year. The lower valuation basis is maintained until the securities are sold or redeemed, so that there are no write-ups due
to higher stock market prices.

* Investments in subsidiaries and associates are shown in the balance sheet at acquisition cost less write-downs.

* Real estate held for investments and held for own use are carried at local statutory values that are vaiid in the country of origin.

» Short-term investments, loans and mortgage loans are valued at a maximum of their nominal value. The item “short-term
investments” includes time deposits as well as money-market securities, and investments with terms over three months up to one year. .

s Capital gains/{losses) on investments occur when the sale price or redemption value is higher/{lower) than the balance sheet value. :
The size of these gains is determined by acquisition and sale prices, and by the extent of write-downs on these investments since purchase. ;
Hence, scme of the gains represent recovered write-downs from previous years. :

+ Write-downs on investments are necessary when the market prices at the end of the financial year are lower than the acquisition
prices or the balance sheet vaiues of the previous year.

(b) Deposits made under assumed reinsurance contracts
The reinsurance deposits consist of funds deposited with primary insurers to guarantee contractual liabilities in the area of assumed .
reinsurance.

{c) Accrued assets ‘
This amount relates primarily to interest income, which is due but not yet received at year-end, and other prepaid expenses.

(d) Reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses

This reserve relates to losses incurred, but not yet settled by the end of the financial year. Sums to be set aside are calcutated according

to business principles, taking into account information available at the end of the financial year. The estimation of loss reserves which have
not yet been reported is made with particular reference to the experience of the previous years.

{e) Reserve for unearned premiums

In many insurance contracts, the insurance period for which the insurance company assumes a risk against 8 premium paid in advance
does not correspond to the company’s financial year. Premium paid will not be fully earned in the financia! year if the insurance period
extends beyond year-end. Thus, an amount equivalent to the unearned premium is set up as a reserve at the end of the financial year.
Calculation of reserves for unearned premiums is based on formulas approved by the Swiss Federal Office of Private Insurance (FOPI). Iy

3. Exchange rates

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies arising from foreign currency transactions are converted at year-end exchange rates. Revenues
and expenses are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction or at a weighted average rate. Unrealized exchange rate
losses are recorded in the operating statements and unrealized gains are deferred until realized.

The table below summarizes the principal exchange rates which have been used for transiation purposes (CHF per 100 foreign currency unit).

Bafance sheet Operating statement
Principal exchange rates 2004 2003 2004 2003
CAD Canadian dollar 94.88 . 95.51 95.52 96.31
EUR  Euro 154.57 156.01 154.30 152.21
GBP UK pound sterling 218.75 221.23 227.33 219.77
UsD VS doliar . 114.03 123.89 124.03 134.31

56 Zurich Insurance Company - Annual Report 2004




e —

4. Net investment income

The investment income shown in the operating statermnents is categorized in the table below.

in CHF millions 2004 2003
Debt securities : : 1,400 1,175
Equity securities 333 474
Real estate 84 95
Mortgage loans 17 15
Short-term investments 65 47
Other . 371 319
Total as per operating staternent 2,270 2125
5. Net realized capital gains/(losses) on investrents and write-downs
The table below shows the movements of realized capital gains and iosses on investments as well as revaluations {write-downs on
investments) by investment categories.

Realized gains Realized losses Write-downs Totals
in CHF millions 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Debt securities 130 157 81) 47 0 0 49 110
Equity securities 87 324 {116) (209) o (148) (29) (33
Investments in subsidiaries and associates 232 866 (426) {634) {756) 0 (950) 232
Real estate 83 205 0 ) (85) M (2) 202
Mortgage loans 0 ¢ 0 0 1] (3] 0 (&)
Other investments 447 93 (8) (397) 1] 0 439 (304)
Total 979 1,645 (631) (1,289) (841} (155) (493) 2014
6. Insurance benefits and losses
in CHF mifiions 2004 2003
Loss payments, annuities and claims handling expenses, gross (13,217} (12,234)
Reinsurers’ share 2,106 2,588
Loss payments, annuities and claims handling expenses, net (11,111) (9,646}
Change in reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses, net (2,592) (3,924
Totat insurance benefits and losses, net of reinsurance (13,704) (13,570)
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7. Investments in subsidiaries and asscciates

A list of significant subsidiaries can be found on page 47.

8. Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets amount to CHF 169 million in 2004 compared to CHF 160 million in 2003. Write-downs increased by CHF 58 millien to
CHF 126 million in 2004, compared to CHF 67 millicn in 2003,

9. Intangible assets
Intangible assets equal CHF 625 million for the current business year and include brand names, patents, trademarks etc. They result mainly

from the merger with Zurich IP AG. In 2003, intangible assets amounted to CHF700 million,

10. Debt

(a) Bonds
In 2001, Zurich Insurance Company issued a 3.875% CHF 1 billion bond maturing in 2011.

(b) Subordinated debt
In 2003, Zurich Financial Services granted a CHF 4 billion long-term and deeply subordinated loan 1o ZIC and that is due in 2033.
Its redemption is directly linked to the borrower's accumulation of retained earnings.

11. Provisions

These consist mainly of reserves to cover obligations relating to our administrative and sales staff, currency fluctuation reserves as well as
a lump-sum reserve for bad and doubtful debts on various receivable balances. These reserves were created in accordance with conservative
accounting principles in view of expected, estimated or perceived expenditures or exposures.

12. Shareholders’ equity

Commeon stock and income shares

number of shares, as of December 31 2004 2003
Contingent and issued common stock, CHF 10 nominal value 86,000,000 86,000,000
Issued commaon stock, CHF 10 nominat value 82,500,000 82,500,000
issued income shares {Genussscheine)! 2 2

' These income shares confer on their holder the right to receive a dividend if and to the extent the General Meeting decides. However, they do not confer on their holder any voting rights
or rights associated thereto, any rights to subscribe for new shares, or any rights te liquidations proceeds.

{a) Issued stock
As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, Zurich Insurance Company had 82.5 million shares of CHF 10 nominal value common stock issued and
fully paid and two income shares {Genussscheine} in the name of Zurich Finandal Services.

{b) Contingent stock

At the General Meeting of Shareholders on fune 11,1897, a contingent capital of CHF 35 million, or 3.5 mitlion shares, was created, of
which 2.5 million shares can be issued in connection with the granting of conversion and/or option rights and 1 million shares can be issued
for the purpose of employees’ share ownership plans. None of the contingent shares have been issued as of December 31, 2004.

{c} Movemaents in shareholders’ equity .
Sharehelders’ equity in ZIC totals CHF 7,322 million. The increase in retained earnings over the previcus year amounts to CHF 1,048 million
and is attributable to the proposed allocation of the current year’s result.

{d) Shareholders
At the end of 2004, 99.94% (2003: 99.94%) of the registered shares were owned by Zurich Group Hofding and 0.06% (2003: 0.06%)
by Zurich Financial Services.
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13. Assets and liabilities relating to companies within the Zurich Group

in CHF millions 2004 2003
Assets

Debt securities . 3,333 3,228
Investmenis in subsidiaries and associates 23 290
Short-term investments 63 68
Morigage loans 35 51
Cash and cash equivalents 4,755 3,683
Receivables from agents and outsianding premiums 0 2
Receivables from insurance and reinsurance companies 1,151 1,341
Deposits made under assumed reinsurance companies ' 2,401 3,164
Accrued assets 558 442
Liabilities .

Amounts gue to insurance and reinsurance companies (701) {697}
Prepaid premiums and other creditors (548) (254)
Reinsurance deposit liabilities (1,816) -
Other short-term liabilities {9,259)  (9,457)
Subordinated debt (4,000) (4,000)
Accrued liabilities (898) (846}

14. Supplementary information

in CHF millions ’ 2004 2003
Guarantees, indemnity Tiabilities and pledges in favor of third parties 12,351 12,212
Assets pledged or assigned for the securing of own liabilities

{not including assets restricted or deposited under the provisions of instrance supervisory laws) : 22 22
Leasing obligations not recorded on the balance sheet 189 203
Fire insurance value of real estate and other fixed assets 2,099 1,989
Balances due from pension funds 9 142
Personnel expenses {included in underwriting and policy acquistion costs,

administrative and expense fines of the operating statements) 1,104 1,040
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2004
Dividend-paying registered shares
Dividend-paying shares as of April 18, 2005 82,500,000
in CHF ) 2004
Appropriation of available earnings as proposed by the Board of Directors
Loss carryforward (1,408,117,848)
Net income for the year 1,048,021,077
Available earnings before proposed appropriation (360,096,771)
Balance carried forward (360,096,771)

The Board of Directors proposes to the General Meeting to carry forward the loss of CHF 360,096,771 in accordance with the above table.

Zurich, Aprii 18, 2005

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Zurich Insurance Company

Lodewiik C. van Wachem i
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Report of the statutory auditors
to the General Meeting of Zurich Insurance Company, Zurich

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and the financial statements {operating statements, balance sheets and notes
on pages 53 to 59) of Zurich Insurance Cormpany for the year ended December 31, 2004.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional quaiification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the Swiss Profession, which require that an audit be planned
and performed to obtain reascnable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement, We have
examined on a test basis evidence supperting the amounts and discosures in the financial statements. We have also assessed the accounting
principles used, significant estimates made and the overal! financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinien.

In our opinion, the accounting records, financial statements and the proposed appropriation of available earnings (page 60) comply with
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG
W. Eriksen-Grundbacher C. Stockli

Zurich, Apri 18, 2005
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Key data 1995-2004

in CHE millions 20047 2003! 2002°
Gross written premiums and poiicy fees, general insurance direct business3 23,260 22,351 21,061
Gross written premiums and policy fees, assumed reinsurance 3 205 484 1,740
Total gross written premiums and policy feess 23,565 22,835 22,801
Net written premiums and policy fees s ' 19,645 18,770 17,439
Net earned premiums and policy feess 19,631 18,388 15,519
Insurance benefits and losses, net of reinsurance 13,704 13,570 12,7114
Underwriting and pelicy acauisition costs, administrative and restructuring expenses 4,956 4,962 4,757
Underwriting result, net 614 (510) (2,518)
Investment income 2,270 2,125 3,750
Net income 1,048 524 873
Dividend - - -
Dividend per share, nominai value CHF 10.~ (in Swiss francs) 0.00 0.00 0.00
fnvestments® 55,473 50,249 456,111
insurance reserves, net 32,318 30,690 26,764
Shareholders' equity (after proposed appropriation of zvailable earnings} 7,322 6,274 57504

TWith effect from 1 January 1998 the reporting processes have been simplified to bring them further in line with the accounting policies of its Utimate parent Zurich Financial Services.
The results for 1997 have been adjusted accordingly.

2including anniversary dividerd of CHF 140.7 miltion, CHF 3.- per share, respectively.

3 Extraordinary dividend paid to Zurich Firancial Services of CHF 1,460 million.

4 Capital increase of ZIC by CHF 1,700 million.

5 Since 2001 including policy fees.

&Since 2001 including cash and cash equivalents.
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Disclaimer & Cautionary Statement

Certain statements in this Annual Report are forward-looking staternents, including, but not limited to, statements that are predications
of or indicate future events, trends, plans or objectives. Forward-looking statements include statements regarding our targeted profit
improvement, return on equity targets, expense reductions, pricing conditions, dividend policy and underwriting claims improvernents.
Undue refiance should not be placed on such statements because, by their nature, they are subject to known and unknown risks and
uncertainties and can be affected by other factors that could cause actual results and Zurich Insurance Company's plans and objectives
ta differ materally from those expressed ar implied in the forward loaking statements {or framn past results}. Factors such a5 () general
economic conditions and competitive factars, particularly in our key markets; (i) performance of financial markets; {iii} levels of interest
rates and currency exchange rates; (iv} frequency, severity and development of insured claims events; (v) mortality and morbidity
experience; (vi) policy renewal and iapse rates; {vii) changes in laws and regulations and in the policies of regulators may have a direct
pearing on Zurich insurance Company's results of operations and on whether Zurich Insurance Company will achieve its targets. Zurich
Insurance Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any of these forward-fooking statements, whether tc reflect
new informztion, future events or circumstances or otherwise.

1t should be noted that past parformance is not a guide to future performance.

Persons requiring advice should consult an independent adviser.

Printed mid April 2005
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